

Green Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) and 2030 SDGs





China Council for International Cooperation on Environment and Development (CCICED)

Special Policy Study Report

2020-2021

Green BRI and 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development

Enhancing Environmental Management System and Policy Studies for BRI Projects

Special Policy Study Members

Co-Leaders*:

- Ms. ZHOU Guomei, Chinese Co-Leader, Director General of Foreign Environmental Cooperation Center, Ministry of Ecology and Environment (MEE)
- Mr. SHI Yulong, Chinese Co-Leader, Director General of China Center for Urban Development, National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC)
- Mr. Kevin P. Gallagher, International Co-Leader, Professor of Global Development Policy, Director of Global Development Policy Center, Frederick S. Pardee School of Global Studies, Boston University

Senior Advisors*:

Mr. GUO Jing, Director General, Department of International Cooperation, MEE

- Mr. PAN Jiahua, Director General, Institute for Urban and Environmental Studies, Chinese Academy of Social Sciences
- Mr. GAO Jixi, Director General, Center for Satellite Application on Ecology and Environment, MEE
- Mr. YE Yanfei, Director General, Policy Research Bureau, China Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission
- Mr. MA Keping, Secretary-General of the Biodiversity Committee of the Chinese Academy of Sciences (CAS), Researcher, Institute of Botany, Chinese Academy of Sciences
- Mr. Guido Schmidt-Traub, Executive Director, Sustainable Development Solutions Network (SDSN)
- Mr. David Wilcove, Professor of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology and Public Affairs, Princeton University
- Mr. Andrew Deutz, Director, Global Policy, Institutions & Conservation Finance, the Nature Conservancy (TNC)
- Ms. Karen Kemper, Global Director for the Environment, Natural Resources and Blue Economy Global Practice at the World Bank
- Ms. Caroline Kaiser, Managing Director, NatureVest, TNC
- Ms. Rose Niu, Chief Conservation Officer, Paulson Institute
- Ms. Nathalie Bernasconi, Senior Director, International Institute for Sustainable Development
- Mr. Jesús Ramos-Martín, Ecological Economist/Rector, Universidad Regional Amazónica IKIAM
- Mr. Carlos Larrea, Universidad Andina Simón Boliviar, Ecuador
- Mr. Albertus Pramonom, Research Center on Climate Change, University of Indonesia
- Ms. Motoko Aizawa, Senior Research Fellow, Climate Bonds Initiative

Expert Team*:

- Ms. LAN Yan, Senior Engineer, Deputy Director, Foreign Environmental Cooperation Center, MEE (Coordinator)
- Ms. LIU Yuan, Director Specialist, Foreign Environmental Cooperation Center, MEE
- Ms. Rebecca Ray, Senior Academic Researcher, Global Development Policy Center, Boston University
- Ms. YU Xiaolong, Senior Program Manager, Foreign Environmental Cooperation Center, MEE
- Ms. PENG Ning, Deputy Head of Office, Foreign Environmental Cooperation Center, MEE
- Ms. LI Panwen, Senior Program Manager, Foreign Environmental Cooperation Center, MEE
- Ms. LIU Yue, Director, International Cooperation Department, China Center for Urban Development, NDRC
- Ms. NI Biye, Senior Urban Planner, China Center for Urban Development, NDRC
- Mr. HAN Yuchao, Assistant to the Dean, Power Generation Engineering Department, China Electric Power Planning and Engineering Institute
- Mr. Greg Radford, Director, Secretariat of the Intergovernmental Forum on Mining, Minerals, and Sustainable Development (IGF)
- Ms. GUO Jiangwen, Senior Research Fellow, Director of UK-China Climate Risk Assessment Programme, Chatham House
- Ms. Christine Yuan, General Manager, Corporate Relations, Rio Tinto China
- Ms. LIU Lei, Deputy Head of Office, Foreign Environmental Cooperation Center, MEE
- Ms. SUN Danni, Deputy Head of Office, Foreign Environmental Cooperation Center, MEE

* The co-leaders and members of this SPS serve in their personal capacities. The views and opinions expressed in this SPS report are those of the individual experts participating in the SPS Team and do not represent those of their organizations and CCICED.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
1. GREEN SILK ROAD ENABLES HIGH-QUALITY DEVELOPMENT OF BRI COOPERATION	3
1.1 PROMOTE BRI TOWARDS HIGH-QUALITY DEVELOPMENT	3
1.2 THE GREEN SILK ROAD PROVIDES NEW IMPETUS FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF 2030 SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS	5
1 3 BRI INVESTMENT FEATURES THE GROWTH OF SCALE AND GREEN-ORIENTED GROWTH	5 5
1.4 MOTIVES AND THE GOALS OF ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT FOR BRI PROJECTS	8
2. ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM FOR CHINA OVERSEAS INVESTMENT	10
2.1 Environmental Management Policies for China Overseas Investment	11
2.2 FEATURES OF ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK FOR CHINA OVERSEA	
INVESTMENT	17
2.2.1 Policy Coverage Areas	17
2.2.2 Policy Content	17
2.2.3 The Level of Policy Effectiveness	18
2.2.4 The Effectiveness of Policy Constraints	18
2.3 SUMMARY	19
3. EXPERIENCES OF ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT IN INTERNATIONAL DFI AND ODA	. 20
3.1 INTERNATIONAL DFI EXPERIENCES FOR ESRM	20
3.1.1 Choice of DFIs Examined Here	20
3.1.2 Upstream Engagement of DFIs	22
3.1.3 Project Screening	24
3.1.4 Implementation and Monitoring	27
3.1.5 Sustainability-enhancing Debt Renegotiation	28
3.2 Environmental Management Mechanisms for ODA of Japan and South Korea	29
3.2.1 Environmental Management in ODA of Japan	29
3.2.2 Environmental Management in ODA of South Korea	32
3.3 SUMMARY	35
4. POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS	37
4.1 PRIORITY AREAS FOR BOOSTING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT IN OVERSEAS BRI PROJECTS	37
4.1.1 Broaden the Scope of BRI Alignment to Specifically Incorporate SDGs	37
4.1.2 Promote a Common Understanding of the Definition of Green Investment among BRI Participati Countries	ing 38
4.1.3 Increase the Support and Guidance from Public Sector for BRI Green Financing	39
4.1.4 Strengthen International Cooperation, Communication, and Capacity Building	39
4.2 POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS FOR NON-GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES TO PRACTICE ENVIRONMENTAL	Ĺ
MANAGEMENT FOR BRI INVESTMENT AND FINANCING	40
4.2.1 Financial Institutions: Facilitate the Improvement of a Hierarchical Classification and Manager. System for BRI Projects	nent 40
4.2.2 Project Sponsors and Owners: Build an Environmental and Climate Risk Screening and Impact Assessment Framework for Projects	40
4.2.3 Market Entities: Enhance the Mainstreaming Level of Environmental and Climate Management.	43
4.2.4 The Third Party Engagement: Develop Green Management Toolkit for the BRI Overseas Investme	1ent
4.3 FIVE KEY PILLARS FOR FULL LIFECYCLE ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT IN BRI PROJECTS	45
4.3.1 Build a Green Investment Governance System Applicable to All Phases of BRI Projects	45

4.3.2 Create Exclusionary Lists	45
4.3.3 Environmental Impact Assessment	46
4.3.4 Environment and Social Management System	46
4.3.5 Information Reporting and Disclosure	46
REFERENCES	47
ANNEX	53
ANNEX 1: DUBAI 700MW SOLAR THERMAL POWER GENERATION PROJECT	53
ANNEX 2: SECOND WIND FARM OF THREE GORGES PAKISTAN WIND POWER GENERATION PHASE II	
Project	56
ANNEX 3: FRAMEWORK OF WHOLE PROCESS GREEN ASSESSMENT FOR BRI PROJECTS	59
ANNEX 4: ENVIRONMENTAL RISK SCREENING TOOL (ERST)	63

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- ADB Asian Development Bank
- AIIB Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank
- BOO Building-Owning-Operation
- BRI the Belt and Road Initiative
- CAF Development Bank of Latin America
- CBI Climate Bond Initiative
- CERAT Climate and Environment Risk Assessment Toolbox
- CICA Conference on Interaction and Confidence Building Measures in Asia
- CIDC Committee for International Development Cooperation
- CPPA-G Central Power Purchasing Agency-Guarantee
- CPS Country Partnership Strategy
- DAC Development Assistance Committee
- DBSA Development Bank of Southern Africa
- DEWA Dubai Electric Power and Water Affairs Bureau
- DFI Development Finance Institution
- EDCF Economic Development Cooperation Fund
- EHS Environment, Health and Safety
- ERST Environmental Risk Screening Tool
- ESRM Enterprise Security Risk Management
- ESF Environmental and Social Framework
- GEBI Green Bond Environmental Index
- **GIP** Green Investment Principles
- ICMA International Capital Market Association
- IETC International Environmental Technology Center
- IFC International Finance Corporation
- IIGF International Institute of Green Finance, CUFE
- IPP Industry-Public-Private
- JBIC Japan Bank for International Cooperation
- JICA Japan International Cooperation Agency
- KOICA Korea International Cooperation Agency
- MDB Multilateral Development Bank
- MOFA South Korea's Ministry of Foreign Affairs
- MOSF South Korea's Ministry of Strategy and Finance

NDC - Nationally Determined Contributions

NGFS - Network of Greening the Financial System

ODA - Official Development Assistance

OECF - Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund

OT - Oyu Tolgoi

PPA- Power Purchase Agreements

QMM - QIT Madagascar Minerals

SCO - Shanghai Cooperation Organization

SDG - Sustainable Development Goals

UNEP - United Nations Environment Programme

UNEP-WCMC - UN Environment Programme World Conservation Monitoring Centre

WB - World Bank

WBG - World Bank Group

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

With the formation of a global consensus on fighting climate change, achieving green and lowcarbon recovery in the post-pandemic era has become a major concern for policy makers around the world. Especially under the impact of COVID-19, the world has realized that humanity is a community of shared destiny, with the need for mutual support, and that promoting connectivity in an open and inclusive manner is the only way out for the world to cope with global crisis and realize sustainable development. As a widely-recognized global public product, the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) has gained growing attention from the international community. It is expected that the development of a green BRI could create new momentum for the implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development by the United Nations (UN).

The green development of BRI highly echoes and complements with the UN 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development in concepts, principles, and goals. China has been promoting highquality bilateral and regional cooperation with BRI participating countries in a sustainable way that benefits people's livelihood, with special focus on building green development partnership and such priority areas as green infrastructure, green energy, and green finance. These efforts contribute to the green development of BRI, and foster new momentums for sustainable development of BRI participating countries. By the end of 2019, China's accumulative investment in cooperation zones in BRI participating countries has reached USD 35 billion, and created 330,000 jobs for local people. In addition, as World Bank estimates, the decrease in the trading costs brought by the BRI infrastructure projects will add up to the actual increase in global income, and BRI related investment could help 7.6 million people out of extreme poverty and 32 million out of moderate poverty.

This Special Policy Study (SPS) is the third phase of the SPS on the theme of "Green BRI and 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development" under the auspices of the China Council on Environmental Cooperation and Development (CCICED). The first phase focused on the alignment of green Silk Road and Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and provided broad principles, objectives and approaches towards the green development of Belt and Road; while the second phase discussed biodiversity and eco-system conservation, and examined the extent to which the BRI can also promote biodiversity conservation across the globe. The SPS of 2021 places its focus on improving the environmental management of BRI projects, and puts forward targeted policy recommendations on establishing a green management system for BRI projects by a comprehensive analysis of Chinese and international environmental management policies, methods, practices, and practical experience, with the aim to secure and power green and high-quality development of BRI.

Starting from Chinese practice, the SPS reviews China's environmental management system for overseas projects and corresponding policy documents. It finds that the Chinese government attaches great importance to the ecological and environmental protection in overseas investment. With the continuous improvement of China's green finance system and the increasing popularity of the sustainable investment concept worldwide, the Chinese government has issued more than 30 policy documents to give requirements, guiding opinions, and supporting policies on eco-environmental protection in overseas investment and cooperation from administrative level. These documents drive the participants of BRI projects to abide by host countries' laws and regulations, fulfill corporate social responsibilities, and well manage environmental performance in their investment and financing activities. In the meantime, multilateral cooperation platforms have been set up and improved such as the BRI International Green Development Coalition (BRIGC), Belt and Road Green Investment Principles (GIP), and Belt and Road Sustainable Cities Alliance. China's investment in renewable energy in BRI participating countries has been growing with a number of clean energy projects having been implemented. Green is becoming the defining feature of Belt and Road cooperation.

From the perspective of international practice, the SPS examines the environmental management practices of developmental financial institutions such as the World Bank, and then analyzes the official development assistance (ODA) practices of Japan and South Korea, the largest economies and most important investors in East Asia outside China, to summarize implications of environmental management in ODA to China's environmental management for overseas projects. It is identified that development finance institutions and ODA institutions, with their active and leading role in international investment and financing cooperation, have profoundly realized the importance of environmental risk management. Internally, they have developed more robust and comprehensive oversight mechanisms, and externally, they have given greater emphasis on understanding and supporting management systems of borrowers. They also provide strategic and technical support, project screening and personnel assistance to understand and meet the demand of hosting countries, and assist borrowers to improve the capacity for and performance of life-cycle environmental management.

Based on the above analyses, the SPS puts forward targeted policy recommendations on promoting the full alignment of Green BRI with 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, with a particular focus on the environmental management for overseas BRI projects, detailed as follows.

At the strategic level, 4 priority areas are recommended for boosting sustainable development in overseas BRI projects. First, broaden the scope of BRI alignment to specifically incorporate SDG 7, 12, and 13. Second, promote a common understanding of the definition of green investment among BRI participating countries. Third, increase the support and guidance from the public sector for BRI green financing. Fourth, strengthen international cooperation, communication, and capacity building.

At the public governance level, there are 4 policy recommendations on guiding nongovernmental entities to practice environmental management. First, government and financial institutions need to facilitate the improvement of a hierarchical classification and management system for BRI projects. Second, Project sponsors and owners should build an environmental and climate risk screening and impact assessment framework for projects. Third, market entities should enhance the mainstreaming of environmental and climate management. Fourth, third-party should be engaged to develop green management toolkit for the BRI overseas investment.

At the level of practical implementation, 5 pillars are proposed to enhance full lifecycle environmental management in BRI projects, including: (1) Build a green investment governance system applicable to all phases of BRI projects; (2) Develop exclusion lists of environmentally harmful projects that shall not be funded; (3) Implement an Environment and Social Management System (ESMS) which includes environmental and social risk responses, management plans, and monitoring plans; (4) Screen projects with environmental and social risks and impacts with EIA; and (5) Develop an information reporting and disclosure mechanism applicable to the whole lifecycle of BRI projects.

<u>1. GREEN SILK ROAD ENABLES HIGH-QUALITY DEVELOPMENT OF BRI</u> COOPERATION

Since the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) was put forward eight years ago, it has achieved fruitful results and far-reaching influence. Adhering to the principle of extensive consultation, joint contribution, and shared benefits, and pursuing green, open and clean development, BRI has injected strong impetus into the process of globalization that has been challenged since the global financial crisis in 2008 by means of policy coordination, infrastructure connectivity, unimpeded trade, financial integration, and people-to-people bond. It is a well-recognized global public product provided by China to the world and creates new opportunities for BRI participating countries to develop together and share prosperity.

1.1 Promote BRI towards High-quality Development

In the past eight years, BRI has evolved into a mutually beneficial and win-win road that connects the development prospects of BRI participating countries, and has had a far-reaching impact on promoting the development of a community with a shared future for mankind. As of February 2020, China has signed more than 200 BRI cooperation documents with 140 countries and 31 international organizations¹. BRI and its core concepts have been incorporated into relevant documents of the United Nations, G20, APEC and other regional organizations². Focusing on the main framework of "six corridors and six channels serving multiple countries and ports", and relying on a number of BRI landmark cooperation projects that proceed smoothly in the fields of ports, railways, highways, electric power, aviation and communications, the infrastructure in BRI participating countries has been improved substantially, and trade and investment potential has been effectively released. By the end of 2019, China had invested a total of USD 35 billion in cooperation zones built by countries along the BRI, paid more than USD 3 billion of taxes and fees to host countries, and created

¹ The list of countries that have signed BRI cooperation documents with China, Belt and Road Portal, 12 March 2021, https://www.yidaiyilu.gov.cn/gbjg/gbgk/77073.htm

² Ambassador Cong Peiwu publishes a signed article on Belt and Road Initiative on CCBC's website, the official website of the Embassy of the People's Republic of China in Canada, 23 June 2021, <u>http://ca.china-embassy.org/eng/sgxw/t1885976.htm</u>

320,000 jobs for the locality³. In addition, according to the estimation of the World Bank, the decline in trade costs brought about by the BRI infrastructure development will increase global real income, and BRI-related investment can help 7.6 million people get rid of extreme poverty and lift 32 million people out of moderate poverty⁴.

Although the COVID-19 once brought global development to a standstill, the BRI showed great resilience and vitality and became a bright color in the haze of the pandemic. In the first three quarters of 2020, China's cumulative imports and exports to countries along the BRI increased by 1.5% year-on-year⁵; and its non-financial direct investment in countries along the BRI increased by 29.7% year-on-year⁶. With the tightening of pandemic prevention measures in various countries and the obstruction of shipping and air transportation, China-Europe Express gives full play to the advantages of cross-border railway freight service and helps BRI participating countries overcome the impacts of pandemic and other unfavorable factors, provides strong support to expedite the development of a green logistics network, to stabilize international supply chain, and to underpin the global war against the pandemic⁷.

The outbreak of pandemic shows once again that humanity is a community with shared weal and woe. In the post-pandemic era, green recovery will contribute new development opportunities to the BRI. Green is the bright background of the BRI. In the process of promoting high-quality development of the BRI, building the Green Silk Road will make much more positive and promising contributions. The 14th Five-Year Plan for National Economic and Social Development of the People's Republic of China and the Outline of the Long-Range Objectives Through the Year 2035 (the 14th Five-Year Plan) points out that China will continue to strengthen the alignment of development strategies and policies, promote the interconnectivity and interoperability of infrastructure, deepen pragmatic economic, trade, and investment cooperation, and build a bridge for mutual learning among civilizations. The document further proposes to "strengthen exchanges and cooperation in climate change response, marine cooperation, wildlife protection, desertification prevention and control, and promote the construction of the Green Silk Road".8 At the Boao Forum for Asia Annual Conference held in April 2021, President Xi Jinping announced that "China will continue to work with other parties in high-quality Belt and Road cooperation... in a bid to make Belt and Road cooperation high-standard, people-centered and sustainable." Besides, China will "build

³ Ministry of Commerce of the People's Republic of China, Report on Development of China's Outward Investment and Economic Cooperation, December 2020, http://images.mofcom.gov.cn/fec/202102/20210202162924888.pdf.

⁴ China Ushers in a New Stage of High-Quality Development in BRI Cooperation in the 14th FYP, China Pictorial, 9 December 2020, http://www.rmhb.com.cn/zt/ydyl/202012/t20201209_800229530.html

⁵ China's General Administration of Customs: In the First Three Quarters of 2020, China's Cumulative Import and Export to Countries Along the BRI Increased by 1.5% Year-On-Year, Ministry of Commerce of the People's Republic of China, 14 October 2020, http://www.mofcom.gov.cn/article/i/jyjl/j/202010/20201003007782.shtml.

⁶ Ministry of Commerce of the People's Republic of China: China's Non-Financial Direct Investment in Countries Along the BRI Increased by 29.7% Year-On-Year in the First Three Quarters, People's Network, 19 October 2020, http://finance.people.com.cn/n1/2020/1019/c1004-31896412.html

⁷ COVID-19 Presents Both Risks and Opportunities for BRI Development, China Today, 18 May 2020, http://www.chinatoday.com.cn/zw2018/sp/202005/t20200518_800204786.html

⁸ The 14th Five-Year Plan for National Economic and Social Development of the People's Republic of China and the Outline of the Long-Range Objectives Through the Year 2035, XinhuaNet, 13 March 2021, http://www.xinhuanet.com/2021-03/13/c_1127205564_13.htm

a closer partnership for green development". It will "strengthen cooperation on green infrastructure, green energy and green finance, and improve the BRI International Green Development Coalition, the Green Investment Principles for the BRI, and other multilateral cooperation platforms to make green a defining feature of Belt and Road cooperation".⁹ At the Asia and Pacific High-level Conference on Belt and Road Cooperation held in June 2021, China and other 28 countries jointly put forth the Initiative for Belt and Road Partnership on Green Development, calling for "internationally collaborative efforts to achieve green and sustainable recovery, and foster a low-carbon, resilient and inclusive post-pandemic growth".¹⁰

1.2 The Green Silk Road Provides New Impetus for the Implementation of 2030 Sustainable Development Goals

Eco-environmental cooperation is an important part of the BRI. It is the initial intention and vision of the Chinese government to build the BRI into a green road of development, and is also a key action to build a community of shared future for mankind. In the past eight years, while strengthening the construction of its own ecological civilization, China has actively worked with the BRI participating countries to build the Green Silk Road, and injected new impetus into the implementation of the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) based on bilateral, multilateral, regional and sub-regional ecological and environmental cooperation.

Underpinned by multilateral cooperation mechanisms such as the BRI International Green Development Coalition (BRIGC), the BRI Green Development Institute and the BRI Environmental Big Data Platform, the building of Green Silk Road has witnessed the constant improvement of the platform for policy dialogue, knowledge sharing and technology exchange, continuous deepening of cooperation on environmental governance, biodiversity conservation and climate change among BRI participating countries, and steady enhancing of international consensus on green development.

Relying on the Belt and Road South-South Cooperation Initiative on Climate Change, China helps vulnerable countries to enhance their ability to cope with climate change. It has been cooperating with Laos, Cambodia and Seychelles in the development of low-carbon demonstration zones and donated facilities for tackling climate change to Pakistan, Bangladesh, Iran, Chile, Uruguay, Cuba, Botswana, Egypt and other countries. With the implementation of the Green Silk Road Envoys Programme, China has provided training opportunities for more than 3,000 people from over 120 countries, which is therefore praised by the United Nations Environment Programme as a "Model of South-South Cooperation".

1.3 BRI Investment Features the Growth of Scale and Green-Oriented Growth

The BRI is not only the road of economic prosperity, but also the road of green development. In the past eight years, the economic and trade cooperation between China and the BRI

⁹ Xi Jinping's Keynote Speech at the Opening Ceremony of Boao Forum for Asia Annual Conference 2021, XinhuaNet, 20 April 2021, http://www.xinhuanet.com/politics/leaders/2021-04/20/c_1127350811.htm

¹⁰ The Initiative for Belt and Road Partnership on Green Development, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China, 24 June 2021, https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/web/ziliao_674904/1179_674909/t1886384.shtml

participating countries has been continuously deepened, and the investment vitality has constantly enhanced, which has facilitated the industrialization process and provided new opportunities for green development in BRI participating countries and regions along the BRI.

First, regional economic and trade cooperation is highly active, with continuous increase of total foreign direct investment. According to the statistics of the Ministry of Commerce and the State Administration of Foreign Exchange of China, from 2013 to 2019, China's cumulative direct investment in countries along the BRI was USD 117.31 billion, with an average annual growth rate of 6.7%, which was 2.6 percentage points higher than the China's average in the same period. Regardless of the drop in 2016 that was affected by the significant increase in total foreign direct investment in that year, the proportion of direct investment in the BRI countries continued to grow (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1 China's Outward FDI in Countries along BRI, 2013-2019

Source: Statistical Bulletin of China's Outward Foreign Direct Investment, Report on China's Foreign Investments and Economic Cooperation, and reports from the official website of the Ministry of Commerce of the People's Republic of China

Second, climate change has triggered regional consensus, and the proportion of renewable energy investment has been increasing. The BRI has not only spurred the economic growth and social development of the participant countries, but also made positive efforts to cope with climate change across the globe. In September 2020, China put forward the vision of reaching its carbon emissions peak before 2030 and achieving carbon neutrality by 2060, which further enriched the connotation of green investment under BRI. In the infrastructure investment of the BRI, the proportion of renewable energy investment is also increasing. By the first half of 2020, China's investment in renewable energy in BRI related countries surpassed investment

in fossil energy for the first time¹¹, forming an all-round international cooperation system for clean energy covering equipment manufacturing, joint research and development, engineering design and construction, and project investment and operation.

China's Investment in the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) in 2020 released by the IIGF Green BRI Center also shows that the energy sector is still the focus of the BRI investment in 2020, ranking first in all industries in terms of investment amount and the number of projects, while the renewable energy investments (solar, wind, hydro) increased from 35% in 2017 to 56% in 2020 and became the majority of China's overseas energy investments.¹²

Box 1.1 Solar Thermal Power Generation: Dubai 700MW Solar Thermal Power Generation Project

Solar thermal power generation is a technology that converts solar energy into heat energy and generates electricity through the process of heat-power conversion. Dubai 700MW Solar Thermal Power Generation Project is an integral part of the 950MW (photothermal and photovoltaic) hybrid project of Mohammedbin Rashid Al Maktoum Solar Park Phase IV in Dubai (hereinafter referred to as Dubai 700MW Project) and also so far the largest solar power generation project under construction in the world. This project is jointly invested by Dubai Electricity and Water Authority (DEWA), China Silk Road Fund (owning 24.01% stake) and ACWA Power, and constructed in IPP (Industry-Public-Private) mode. It is one of BRI's key projects and a landmark project in the Middle East market. The total investment of the project is 14.2 billion dirhams (about RMB 25.3 billion). ACWA Power is the project developer, Shanghai Electric Group, a Chinese-funded enterprise, is the general contractor of the project, and DEWA is the power buyer.



Design of Dubai 700MW Solar Thermal Power Generation Project

Dubai 700MW Project includes 3×200MW trough solar thermal power generation units and 100MW tower solar thermal power generation unit. The project started construction on March 19, 2018 and is

¹¹ Zhou Yamin. Transformation and Upgrading of China's Industrial Chains Fueled by the Duel Goals of Carbon Emissions Peak and Carbon Neutrality. China Development Observation. 2021(Z1): 56-58.

¹² *China's Investment in the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) in 2020.* Green BRI Center, International Institute of Green Finance (IIGF) under Central University of Finance and Economics. 2020.

expected to be put into production by the end of 2022. The project adopts the world's leading "tower + trough" centralized solar thermal power generation technology. It is the solar thermal power generation project being constructed with the largest installed capacity, the highest technical standards, the heaviest investment and the lowest electricity price in the world. Its tower unit is equipped with a 15-hour molten salt thermal energy storage system, while the tank unit has 11 - 13.5 hours of thermal storage. Different from the intermittent nature and instability of photovoltaic power generation, the power output of solar thermal power generation is both stable and adjustable. It can still maintain a stable power output at night. Upon completion, the Project can generate 700,000 kilowatts of clean power per hour with the world's largest thermal storage capacity. It can provide sufficient clean power to 270,000 households in Dubai and reduce 1.4 million tons of carbon emissions every year.

Third, investment fields and subjects are becoming increasingly diversified, and the third-party market cooperation mode is gradually emerging. In the early stage, BRI investment was focused on the infrastructure such as energy, transportation, communication and water conservancy, and main investors were mostly state-owned enterprises. In recent years, the industries of direct investment in countries and regions along the BRI have become increasingly diversified, distributed in manufacturing, leasing and business services, wholesale and retail, building and construction, mining, finance, power production and heat supply, agriculture, forestry, animal husbandry and fishery, etc.¹³ More and more private enterprises and foreign-funded enterprises are joining the BRI investment. The model of third-party market cooperation is gaining popularity.¹⁴ Third-party market cooperation is based on "complementary advantages", and adopts the concept of "equal consultation". It aims at "winwin results among three parties" through "enterprise-led" cooperation. It is highly consistent with the spirit of "extensive consultation, joint contribution, and shared benefits" advocated by the BRI. As a new mode of international economic cooperation, the third-party market cooperation has been widely concerned and welcomed by relevant enterprises in developed countries and countries and regions along the BRI. Since 2015, China has successively signed joint statements or documents on third-party market cooperation with 14 countries¹⁵, which is characterized by diversified modes and large-scale projects. International, bilateral and multilateral financial institutions are also strengthening financing support and constantly exploring ways to expand cooperation in third-party markets.

1.4 Motives and the Goals of Environment Management for BRI Projects

The Chinese government attaches great importance to the eco-environmental protection in BRI projects. With the continuous improvement of China's green finance system and the wide spread of the concept of sustainable investment worldwide, BRI investment and financing

¹³ Ministry of Commerce of P.R.C., Report on Development of China's Outward Investment and Economic Cooperation, December 2020, http://images.mofcom.gov.cn/fec/202102/20210202162924888.pdf.

¹⁴ Third-party market cooperation refers to the market cooperation between Chinese enterprises and multinational enterprises in developed countries in professional fields such as foreign direct investment, infrastructure construction, financial product supply, capacity utilization, foreign aid and etc. in the third-party market with high trade complementarity for the two sides.

¹⁵ The 14 countries are France, South Korea, Canada, Portugal, Australia, Japan, Italy, the Netherlands, Belgium, Spain, Austria, Singapore, Switzerland and the United Kingdom, which are sorted by the author according to the official websites of the Ministry of Commerce and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of China and relevant reports from the *People's Daily*.

environment management has become the key in the green and high-quality development in BRI. The Chinese government has issued more than 30 policy documents focusing on areas such as foreign economic and trade cooperation, building green Silk Road, and green finance, with a series of management level requirements, guiding opinions and supporting policies on eco-environmental protection pertinent to China's "outward investment". These documents have provided clear policy guidelines for the participants of BRI projects to carry out environmental management in their investment and financing activities.

In 2013, the Ministry of Commerce and the former Ministry of Environmental Protection jointly issued the "Guidelines for Environmental Protection in Foreign Investment and Cooperation", which encourages enterprises to foster the awareness of environmental protection, fulfill environmental responsibilities according to the laws, abide by environmental protection laws and regulations of the host countries, and fulfill their duties and obligations in environmental impact assessment (EIA), emission standards, environmental emergency management and etc. In 2017, the "Guidance on Promoting Green Belt and Road" was issued jointly by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, National Development and Reform Commission and the Ministry of Commerce, while the "Belt and Road Ecological and Environmental Cooperation Plan" was also released by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment. Both documents have articulated clear requirements on the environmental management of BRI investments and projects. In July 2021, the Ministry of Commerce and the Ministry of Ecology and Environment jointly issued the "Green Development Guidelines for Overseas Investment and Cooperation", which further notes to "encourage enterprises to conduct ecological and environmental risk prevention measures and improve the capacity of ecological and environmental management" and that Chinese enterprises shall "take reasonable and necessary measures to reduce or mitigate adverse environmental impacts". In addition, "Catalogue of Green Bond Support Projects (2021 Edition)" released in April 2021 also excluded high-carbon projects such as fossil energy projects, with funding skewed toward green finance to support climate change responses. It is foreseeable that the afore-mentioned new regulations will raise higher requirements for the green practice of BRI investment and financing, and underscore the importance of environmental management for BRI investments to BRI green development, which will speed up the thorough alignment of green BRI with the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.

Thus, the Special Policy Study (SPS) of 2021 places its focus on improving relevant entities' environmental management capacities for overseas investments, and puts forward targeted policy recommendations on establishing a green management system for BRI projects by a comprehensive analysis of Chinese and international environmental management policies, methods, practices, and practical experience, with the aim to secure and power green and high-quality development of BRI. Chapter 2 reviews China's environmental management system for overseas projects and the corresponding progress. Chapter 3 first examines the environment management practices of development finance institutions such as the World Bank, and then analyzes the official development assistance (ODA) practices of Japan and South Korea, the second largest economies and most important investors in East Asia, to summarize implications of environmental management in ODA to China's environmental management in overseas projects. Based on the above analysis, Chapter 4 puts forward policy recommendations on

promoting the full alignment of green BRI and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, including 4 key areas for BRI investment and financing to support sustainable development at strategic level, 4 policy suggestions to guide non-governmental entities to carry out environment management from the public governance perspective; and 5 key pillars to enhance full life cycle management of the BRI's overseas projects in practice.

2. ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM FOR CHINA OVERSEAS INVESTMENT

Given the involvement of multiple stakeholders in the environmental management of overseas projects, enterprises, governments, financial institutions, professional and technical entities such as third-parties need to collaborate with each other (Figure 2.1). Among them, enterprises are the subject of decision-making, execution and responsibility in environmental management. Factors such as administrative management, policies and regulations, financial support, as well as professional and technical tools will serve as the guarantees for enterprises to practice full life cycle environmental management, providing indispensable external constraints and fundamental support. Besides, demands and feedbacks from the host countries are of equal importance for the project environmental management. This chapter will focus on China's environmental management legislative framework for overseas investments and the corresponding progress in building such framework.



Figure 2.1 Collaborative Relationship among Participants in the Environmental Management System of the BRI Foreign Investment

Source: by authors

2.1 Environmental Management Policies for China Overseas Investment

Based on the collected materials that are available through public channels, this research has identified 32 policy documents issued by Chinese governments at all levels (Tables 2.1-2.3), which are applicable to the environmental management of BRI overseas investment. Within the framework outlined by the above policy documents, there is no specific document on the environmental management of BRI overseas investment. However, in such policy areas as foreign trade and economic cooperation, building the Green Silk Road, eco-environmental protection, and green finance, the Chinese government has put forward a series of management requirements, guiding opinions and supporting policies on ecological and environmental protection of "outbound investment". In particular, in July 2021, MOFCOM and the Ministry of Ecology and Environment (MEE) jointly released the "Green Development Guidelines for Overseas Investment and Cooperation", which clearly encourages Chinese enterprises to conduct "eco-environmental management" and "eco-environmental risk prevention" in overseas investment, and comply with international requirements, including the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), Green Investment Principles for BRI (GIP), etc.

Year of	Level of Effectiveness	Formulating and	Key Content
Issuance	File Name	Publishing Units	
2017	Administrative regulations: Regulations on the Administration	the State Council	Abide by the laws of the host country/region, abide by the
	of Foreign Contracted Projects		contract, respect local customs and
	(Revised) (Order No.676 of the		tradition, and pay attention to
	State Council of the People's		ecological and environmental
	Republic of China)		protection
2017	Normative document of the State	NDRC/MOFCOM/P	Restrict implementation of overseas
	Council: Notice on Guiding	BOC/MFA	investment projects that do not meet
	Opinions on Further Guiding and	(forwarded by the	the environmental protection,
	Regulating the Direction of	General Office of the	energy consumption and safety
	Overseas Investment (Guo Ban Fa	State Council)	standards of the host country
	[2017] No.74)		
2016	Normative document of the State	the State Council	Establish and improve the green
	Council: Notice on Printing and		investment and green trade
	Distributing the Thirteenth Five-		management system, and
	Year Plan for Ecological		implement the environmental
	Environmental Protection (Guo Fa		protection guidelines for foreign
	[2016] No.65)		investment cooperation

Table 2.1 Policies related to Environmental Management in BRI Investment – State Council Level

Source of information: http://www.pkulaw.cn/

		Level	
Year of Issuance	Level of Effectiveness File Name	Formulating and Publishing Units	Key Content
Policy Are	ea 1-1: Management of Foreign Econo	omic Cooperation	
2021	Departmental Regulations: Green Development Guidelines for Overseas Investment and Cooperation (No. 309 of Shang He Han, 2021)	MOFCOM, MEE	 7. Prevention of Ecological Environmental Risks. Encourage enterprises to carry out ecological and environmental risk prevention in accordance with relevant requirements for overseas investment, and improve the enterprises' ecological and environmental management. Encourage enterprises to follow the host countries' rules and standards and take reasonable and necessary measures to reduce or mitigate potential adverse environmental impacts caused by the investment. For the adverse impact on biodiversity, conservation and restoration measures shall be taken according to the international practice. 8. Following International Green Rules. Encourage enterprises to comply with international requirements, including the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), and Green Investment Principles for BRI (GIP).
2019	Departmental normative documents: Guiding Opinions on Promoting the High-Quality Development of Foreign Contracted Projects (Shang He Fa [2019] No.273)	MOFCOM/MFA/ND RC, etc	Basic principles: Guide enterprises to adhere to the concept of green, open and clean development, and pay attention to ecological and environmental protection; Implement high-quality and sustainable infrastructure projects; Guide enterprises to establish correct values of justice and interests and earnestly fulfill their social responsibilities; Build a comprehensive risk prevention and control system to actively prevent and resolve various risks; Specific opinions: According to the internationally accepted rules and standards, the concept of sustainable development is integrated into the project selection,

Table 2.2 Policies related to Environmental Management in BRI Investment – Ministry

Year of Issuance	Level of Effectiveness File Name	Formulating and Publishing Units	Key Content
			implementation and management of foreign contracted projects; Guide enterprises to strengthen communication and common interests with the government, enterprises and people in the project host country, pay attention to environmental protection and fulfill social responsibilities; Effectively regulate the operation of foreign contracted projects to strictly abide by the laws and regulations of China, those of the host countries, and relevant international rules and standards in key links such as environmental protection; Promote the development of credit system for foreign economic cooperation, and improve the provisions on the identification and information recording of dishonesty in foreign contracted projects:
2017	Departmental regulations: Measures for the Administration of Overseas Investment of Enterprises (Order No.11 of NDRC)	NDRC	Encourage investors to protect the legitimate rights and interests of employees, respect local public order and good customs, fulfill necessary social responsibilities, and pay attention to ecological and environmental protection
2017	Departmental regulations: Measures for the Supervision and Administration of Overseas Investment by Central Enterprises (Order No.35 of SASAC of the State Council)	SASAC	Establish correct values of justice and benefit, adhere to the principle of mutual benefit and win-win cooperation, strengthen the development of public relations, and actively fulfill social responsibilities; Abide by laws and be compliant, comply with laws and regulations, business rules and cultural customs of China and the host countries (regions):
2017	Departmental normative documents: Notice on Issuing the Code of Conduct for Overseas Investment and Management of Private Enterprises (F.G.W.Z [2017] No.2050)	NDRC/MOFCOM/P BOC/MFA/NFIC	Overseas investment by private enterprises should pay attention to resource and environmental protection , including protecting resources and environment, carrying out environmental impact assessment, applying for environmental protection permit, formulating emergency plans for environmental accidents, carrying out cleaner production and paying attention to ecological restoration.
2014	Departmental regulations: Measures for the Administration of Overseas Investment (Order No.3 of the MOFCOM of the People's Republic of China, 2014)	MOFCOM	Overseas enterprises invested by them should be required to abide by the laws and regulations of investment recipient localities , respect local customs and habits , fulfill their social responsibilities , and perform duties well in environmental protection ,

Year of Issuance	Level of Effectiveness File Name	Formulating and Publishing Units	Key Content
			labor protection, and corporate culture development;
2013	Departmental normative document: Guidelines for Environmental Protection in Foreign Investment and Cooperation (S.H.H [2013] No.74)	MOFCOM/Former MEP	Guide Chinese enterprises to further behave themselves in environmental protection in foreign investment cooperation; Guide enterprises to actively fulfill their social responsibility for environmental protection; Promote the sustainable development of foreign investment cooperation;
2013	Departmental normative documents: Notice on Printing and Distributing the Provisions on Regulating Competition Behavior in Foreign Investment Cooperation Field (S.H.F [2013] No.88)	MOFCOM	It shall abide by the laws and regulations of the country (region) where the project is located, respect local customs and habits, attach importance to environmental protection and fulfill necessary social responsibilities . Foreign investment cooperative business activities that constitute unfair competition in violation of regulations will be recorded, and enterprises involved shall not enjoy relevant state support policies within 3 years .
2008	Departmental normative document: Notice on Further Regulating Foreign Investment Cooperation of Chinese Enterprises (S.H.F [2008] No.222)	MOFCOM/MFA/SA SAC	It is necessary to enhance the consciousness of "understanding the law, abiding by the law, and operating in good faith" in-depth study and abide by the laws and regulations of the host countries, especially the regulations on environmental protection, labor and employment, entry and exit management, safe production, bidding and other aspects; To deal with or punish enterprises that violate laws and regulations and cause serious consequences.
2012	Inner-Party regulations: Notice on Printing and Distributing Several Opinions on the Development of Overseas Enterprise Culture in China (S.Z.F [2012] No.104)	MOFCOM/SCIO/M FA/NDRC/SASAC	Incorporate "fulfilling social responsibilities performing well in environmental protection , paying attention to resource conservation, and minimizing the environmental pollution and damage caused by the production and operation activities of enterprises" into corporate culture development for Chinese enterprises operating outside China
Policy Are	a 1-2: Information Filing and Credit	System Development	of Foreign Economic Cooperation
2018	Departmental normative documents: Notice on Printing and Distributing the Interim Measures for Foreign Investment Filing (Approval) Report (S.H.F [2018] No.24)	MOFCOM/PBOC/S ASAC, etc.	Investors are required to regularly submit information on key links of foreign investment according to the principle of "all filing (approval) must be reported"; Including that main problems exist in foreign investment, compliance with local laws and regulations, protection of resources and

Year of Issuance	Level of Effectiveness File Name	Formulating and Publishing Units	Key Content
			environment, protection of employees' legitimate rights and interests, fulfillment of social responsibilities, implementation of safety protection system, etc.
2017	Departmental working document: Guiding Opinions on Strengthening the Construction of Credit System in the Field of Foreign Economic Cooperation (F.G.W.Z. [2017] No.1893)	NDRC/PBOC/MOF COM, etc	In case of violation of domestic and cooperative countries and regions' relevant laws and regulations, international conventions and United Nations resolutions, relevant competent departments shall record the subject, responsible person and behavior of dishonesty in credit records .
2013	Departmental normative documents: Notice on Printing and Distributing the Trial Measures for Bad Credit Records in Foreign Investment Cooperation and Foreign Trade (Shang Hefa [2013] No.248)	MOFCOM/MFA/MP S	Foreign investment behaviors that damage the local ecological environment and threaten local public safety are included in the " bad credit record of foreign investment cooperation "
Policy Are	a 2: Green Finance		
2020	Departmental normative document: Guiding Opinions on Promoting Investment and Financing in Response to Climate Change (H.Q.H. [2020] No.57)	MEE/NDRC/PBOC/ CBIRC/CSRC	Encourage financial institutions to support the low-carbon development of BRI and "South-South Cooperation" , and promote climate mitigation and adaptation projects to land overseas. Regulate the overseas investment and financing activities of financial institutions and enterprises, assist them to actively fulfill their social responsibilities , and effectively prevent and resolve climate risks .
2016	Departmental normative documents: Guiding Opinions on Building a Green Finance System (Y.F. [2016] No.228)	PBOC/MOFCOM/N DRC/Former MEP, etc.	Guide financial institutions to support and promote the construction of ecological civilization and improve the green level of foreign investment
2012	Departmental normative documents: Notice on Printing and Distributing Guidelines for Green Credit (Y.J.F [2012] No.4)	Former CBRC	Financial institutions should strengthen environmental and social risk management of overseas projects
Policy Are	a 3: Development of Green Silk Road	1	
2017	Departmental working document: Guiding Opinions on Promoting the Development of a Green Belt and Road Initiative (H.G.J [2017] No.58)	Former MEP/MFA/NDRC/ MOFCO	Integrate the principles of resource conservation and environmental friendliness; Encourage enterprises to comply with international rules and the laws, regulations, policies and standards of the host countries pertinent to ecological and environmental protection; Strengthen the environmental management of overseas investment;
2017	Departmental working document: Notice on Printing and Distributing	Former MEP	Comply with laws and regulations and promote the greening of international

Year of Issuance	Level of Effectiveness File Name	Formulating and Publishing Units	Key Content
	the Belt and Road Ecological Environmental Protection Cooperation Plan (H.G.J [2017] No.65)		capacity cooperation and infrastructure construction; Guide and facilitate green investment decisions. Strengthen environmental risk management, improve the level of environmental information disclosure, use green financing tools such as green bonds to raise funds, and establish and use environmental pollution compulsory liability insurance and other tools to carry out environmental risk management in high-risk areas.
2015	Departmental working paper: Vision and Actions on Jointly Building the Silk Road Economic Belt and the 21st Century Maritime Silk Road	NDRC/MFA/MOFC OM (Issuance authorized by the State Council)	Highlight the concept of ecological civilization in investment and trade, strengthen cooperation in ecological environment, biodiversity and climate change, and jointly build the Green Silk Road. Encourage enterprises to operate according to the principle of localization Take the initiative to assume social responsibility and strictly protect biodiversity and ecological environment.

Source of information: http://www.pkulaw.cn/

Table 2.3 Policies related to Environmental Management in BRI Investment – -Local

Government Level

Year of Issuance	File Name	Key Content
2018	Local normative documents: Notice of Shandong Provincial Development	The investment subject
	and Reform Commission on Printing and Distributing the Measures for the	shall require its
	Administration of Overseas Investment of Enterprises in Shandong Province	invested overseas
2018	Local normative documents: Notice of Beijing Development and Reform	enterprises:
	Commission on Printing and Distributing the Measures for the	To comply with laws
	Administration of Overseas Investment of Enterprises in Beijing	and regulations of
2018	Local normative documents: Notice of Jiangxi Provincial Development and	investment recipient
	Reform Commission on Printing and Distributing the Measures for the	localities;
	Administration of Overseas Investment of Enterprises in Jiangxi Province	To actively carry out
2018	Local normative documents: Notice of Chongqing Municipal People's	the development of
	Government on Printing and Distributing the Measures for the	enterprise culture;
	Administration of Overseas Investment of Enterprises in Chongqing	To respect local
2018	Local normative documents: Notice of Sichuan Provincial Department of	customs and habits;
	Commerce on Printing and Distributing the Detailed Rules for the	To fulfill social
	Implementation of Administrative Measures for Overseas Investment in	responsibilities;
	Sichuan Province	To behave well in
2015	Local normative documents: Detailed Rules for the Implementation of	environmental and
	Overseas Investment Management by Guangdong Provincial Department of	labor protection;
	Commerce	To innovate overseas
2015	Local normative documents: Notice of Qingdao Municipal Bureau of	investment methods;
	Commerce on Printing and Distributing the Administrative Measures for	
	Overseas Investment of Oingdao Municipal Bureau of Commerce	

Year of Issuance	File Name	Key Content
2015	Local normative documents: Notice of the General Office of Tianjin	To adhere to the
	Municipal People's Government on Forwarding the Measures for the	principle of good faith
	Administration of Overseas Investment in China (Tianjin) Pilot Free Trade	management;
	Zone drafted by the Municipal Commission of Commerce	To avoid unfair
2015	Local normative documents: Notice of Hunan Provincial Department of	competition behavior;
	Commerce on Printing and Distributing the Detailed Rules of Hunan	To promote
	Province's Measures for the Administration of Overseas Investment	communication with
2014	Local normative documents: Notice of Gansu Provincial Department of	local communities.
	Commerce on Doing a Good Job in Overseas Investment Management	

Source of information: http://www.pkulaw.cn/

2.2 Features of Environmental Management Legislative Framework for China Oversea Investment

2.2.1 Policy Coverage Areas

The above policies cover three main areas: foreign economic cooperation (overseas investment and foreign contracted projects) management, green finance, and Green Silk Road development. These areas can be further divided into the following sub-categories: (1) Specific items related to investment philosophy, behavior, risk management, direction, project selection, compliance rules of foreign investment subjects, foreign investment credit system development and punishment for dishonesty. (2) Specific items related to financial institutions' capital investment flow, investment green level, investment project environmental and social risk management. (3) Specific items related to general principles, production capacity distribution and the green behavior guidelines for enterprises in the building of Green Silk Road, as well as the environmental management and eco-environmental risk prevention for overseas investment. However, there is still no policy document especially designed as guidance and basis for the environmental management of the BRI overseas investment.

2.2.2 Policy Content

According to specific contents, existing policy portfolio mainly regulates and guides enterprises' environmental protection behavior in overseas investment (including the BRI overseas investment) from three aspects. First, it encourages enterprises to establish environmental protection concepts, to fulfill social responsibility for environmental protection, to respect religious beliefs and customs of the host country, to protect the legitimate rights and interests of workers, and to achieve "win-win" situation between their own profits and environmental protection. Second, enterprises are required to abide by the environmental protection laws and regulations of the host country, and investment cooperation projects are required to obtain environmental permission from local government according to law, and to fulfill legal obligations for environmental protection such as environmental impact assessment (EIA), emission compliance, and environmental emergency management. Third, enterprises are encouraged to follow international standards, and refer to environmental protection principles, standards and practices adopted by international organizations and multilateral financial institutions.

In 2015, China's National Development and Reform Commission, Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Ministry of Commerce jointly issued the first government white paper on the BRI, which is also a planning document on the BRI, *Vision and Actions on Jointly Building Silk Road Economic Belt and 21st-Century Maritime Silk Road*, for the first time setting clear environmental management requirements for the BRI overseas investment. It puts forward the concrete requirements of "highlighting the concept of ecological civilization in investment and trade, strengthening cooperation on ecological environment, biodiversity and climate change, and building a green Silk Road together", and encourages enterprises to take the initiative to assume social responsibility and strictly protect biodiversity and ecological environment.

2.2.3 The Level of Policy Effectiveness

According to the principle that "the level of effectiveness depends on the level of formulation subject" embodied in the *Legislative Law* of China, to analyze the effectiveness stages of the above policies, it is necessary to divide them into four categories from the perspective of the level of formulation subject: (1) Policy documents formulated or issued by the State Council (3 pieces): 1 piece of administrative regulation and 2 pieces of normative documents; (2) Policy documents formulated or issued by various ministries and commissions of the State Council (18 pieces): 3 pieces of departmental regulations, 10 pieces of departmental normative documents, and 4 pieces of departmental working documents; (3) Policy documents formulated and issued by local governments (10 pieces): 10 pieces of normative documents of local governments in Beijing, Tianjin, Shandong, Hunan, Sichuan, Chongqing, Jiangxi, Gansu and Guangdong; (4) Inner-party documents: 1 piece of inner-party regulation.

The ministries and commissions of the State Council are the main bodies of policy making under the current policy framework, among which the Ministry of Commerce in charge of foreign trade and investment leads the most intensive issuance (leading issuance of 9 pieces of documents). Since 2013, competent department of ecological environment has participated in the policy formulation in this field, and jointly issued the "Guidelines for Environmental Protection in Foreign Investment and Cooperation" and the "Green Development Guidelines for Overseas Investment and Cooperation" with the Ministry of Commerce, which is of symbolic significance for environmental management of China's foreign investment. Subsequently, in the field of building a green Silk Road, it took the lead in formulating and issuing special documents such as "Guiding Opinions on Promoting the Development of a Green Belt and Road Iinitiative" and "Notice on Printing and Distributing the Belt and Road Environmental Protection Cooperation Plan".

2.2.4 The Effectiveness of Policy Constraints

According to the binding effect of the policy content, among the above 32 documents: (1) 17 policy documents put forward specific requirements that investors should comply with laws and regulations, abide by the laws and regulations of China and the investment recipient localities, fulfill their social responsibilities, strengthen the development of public relations with all sectors of society in the country (region) where they invest, and restrict the development of overseas investment projects that do not meet the environmental protection standards of the host country, which need to be implemented, followed or referred to by

investors, with corresponding punishment mechanisms. (2) The other 15 documents encourage investors to abide by the laws and regulations of investment recipient localities, respect local customs and habits, do a good job in environmental protection, and fulfill social responsibilities. However, there is no mandatory requirement on the behavior of investors, and the policy binding force is weak.

2.3 Summary

The BRI overseas investment is an important part of China's foreign investment. Therefore, the environmental management of BRI overseas investment should be conducted under the existing administrative system and policy framework. The Chinese government has long been attaching great importance to the protection of ecological environment in the process of carrying out outbound investment, requiring investors to act in accordance with the laws and regulations of the recipient countries, fulfill corporate social responsibilities, and protect the environment as well as the workers. The existing foreign investment management policies are "green" in essence.

To enhance the regulation and guidance of the environmental management of BRI overseas investment, governments at all levels in China have issued 32 policy documents concerning this topic, incorporating the concept and specific requirements of green and sustainable development from the perspectives of foreign investment, green finance, and building a green Silk Road. These policies provide clear policy regulation, iniitaive, and guidance for overseas investors to fulfill their main responsibility of environmental management, to abide by the laws and regulations of China and host countries and to fulfill their social responsibilities.

However, with the continuous growth of BRI overseas investment, the increase in the number of host countries of the BRI overseas construction projects, and further aggravation of the impact of climate crisis on the BRI participating countries, the goal of building the BRI with high quality puts forward higher requirements for the environmental management of relevant projects. Meanwhile, since 2017, the concept and market of green finance have risen rapidly. As a feedback mechanism to force investors to pay attention to environmental impact and optimize investment decisions by adjusting capital supply, the effective and efficient operation of green financial system needs to be based on massive high-quality environmental information, and needs to promote the implementation of environmental management procedures including environmental risk assessment and environmental benefit assessment, and further improve the refined environmental management by investors.

Considering the two aspects mentioned above, the existing policies are facing with realistic challenges of relatively low legal hierarchy, weak binding force, and regulatory requirements that are not specific enough for practical implementation. Thus, stronger policy guidance and administration measures are needed to support the existing practice.

3. EXPERIENCES OF ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT IN INTERNATIONAL DFI AND ODA

3.1 International DFI Experiences for ESRM

Two reinforcing trends have dominated the development of environmental management practices among international development finance institutions (DFIs) in the last decade: internally, they have developed more robust and comprehensive oversight mechanisms, and externally, they have given greater emphasis on understanding and supporting the country systems of borrowers. While these two trends may appear to indicate movement in opposite directions, they are complementary in practice. As banks have come to better understand the environmental and reputational risks intrinsic to international development finance, they have bolstered their own project screening and oversight processes, while simultaneously working to better understand and support borrowers' own capacities to manage project portfolios.

3.1.1 Choice of DFIs Examined Here

This chapter attempts to examine in depth a representative sample of 8 DFIs from more than 450 DFIs that exist globally, which together manage over USD 11 trillion in assets (Xu, Maradon, and Ru 2020). The DFIs studied here include as wide as possible of an array of these institutions that work internationally, with levels of activity that can be considered comparable to China's.

Firstly, they represent the three most common geographic scopes: (i) the World Bank (WB) and International Finance Corporation (IFC) are global; (ii) the Asian Development Bank (ADB), Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank (AIIB), and Development Bank of Latin America (CAF) are regional; and (iii) the Development Bank of Southern Africa (DBSA), Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA), and Japan Bank for International Cooperation (JBIC) are bilateral in nature. Furthermore, the Multilateral Development Banks (MDBs) chosen for this study consist of MDBs with significant participation of high-income countries, including the WB, IFC, and ADB, as well as regional south-south partnership organizations, such as the AIIB and CAF. The three bilateral institutions also represent three different types of relationships: the DBSA extends South African development finance to countries within its region¹⁶; JICA is Japan's development bank that operates overseas; and JBIC is its export credit agency (ECA).

Overall, DFI internal practices have become more comprehensive, incorporating a broader range of environmental concerns and incorporating them more fully into their project evaluation and oversight. As Tables 3.3 shows, the DFIs such as WB, IFC, DBSA and AIIB share a commonality of recent revisions and reforms in their environmental screening practices. The frameworks without recent revisions – at the ADB and JICA – are also the most rudimentary. Greenhouse gas emissions are evaluated in project screening by all DFIs examined here except JICA, and ecosystem services are incorporated in policy, operations, or

¹⁶ It is worth mentioning that, while the Development Bank of Southern Africa lends regionally, it is owned and managed by South Africa.

both, by all DFIs except the ADB. This trend reflects a growing recognition of the importance of several aspects of environmental risks.

On the borrower side, DFIs have incorporated the understanding that international finance necessitates a shared oversight between lender and borrower. While lenders can protect themselves from unnecessary environmental and reputational risk through internal risk management systems, to be effective, they must also recognize and encourage the management efforts of borrowing countries. This borrower engagement begins long before projects are proposed. Each of the DFIs studied here is also active in "upstream" project strategy and preparation, assisting borrowers in developing their priorities into specific finance proposals. During project implementation, these DFIs also engage carefully with the environmental management systems of borrowing countries.

This approach often requires lenders to understand those local systems well, to know when it is appropriate to rely on them. For example, although the ADB has the oldest environmental management framework studied here, it has simultaneously developed a thorough process of not only evaluating borrower country systems for the purpose of using them where possible, but also evaluating and collaborating on strengthening borrower institutional capacity for enforcing local management policies. In addition, the World Bank, ADB, and DBSA all have provisions for evaluating country systems and using them where possible in project screening. During implementation, nearly all DFIs studied here assist with borrower transparency, facilitating the publication of borrower-produced project documentation. Finally, all but JICA and JBIC rely on third-party monitors.

In sum, the trend over the last few decades shows that DFIs have grown in their understanding that building their own environmental management systems and recognizing those of borrowing countries are complementary goals. As many scholars (including Prinsloo et al 2017; Morgado and Taşkın 2019; Ray et al 2020) have noted, lenders have come to recognize that environmental management is most effective when approached as a partnership that recognizes borrower priorities, gives policy space to local authorities to carry out their own policies where possible, and strengthens local institutions so that they can better carry out their own missions alongside lenders.

Finally, as Table 3.1 shows, this selection includes DFIs that primarily lend to sovereign governments, those that primarily lend to private-sector commercial borrowers, and one that works amply in both arenas.

			Lending Focus (Clients)	
		Sovereign	Both	Non-Sovereign
Scope	Global	WB		IFC
	Regional	AIIB, ADB	CAF	
	Bilateral	DBSA, JICA		JBIC

Table 3.1 DFIs Studied Here and their Scope

Box 3.1 DFIs' Motivation for Independent Environmental Management Systems

Borrower governments face a host of conflicts of interest between project facilitation and regulation, which can leave potentially important gaps. An Inter-American Development Bank study of 200 infrastructure-related social conflicts over 40 years in Latin America found that in 86% of conflicts, national governments exacerbated the problems by underestimating risks or not sufficiently planning to mitigate those risks (Watkins et al, 2017). Unruh et al (2019) find that in East Africa, while international DFIs or donors often mandate common practices such as ESIAs and resettlement plants, government capacity and political will to effectively oversee and carry out the necessary ESRM steps vary widely among host countries. Warford (2004), studying infrastructure development in East Asia and the Pacific, finds that these inconsistencies can often be linked to a lack of integration between short-term, project-specific governance measures (such as ESIAs) and longer-term government goals for overall growth and development. When tensions arise between the two, it creates conflicts of interests for policy makers, which can result in a lack of follow-through on governance commitments made to international lenders or investors.

While Warford (2004) studied Asia specifically, other authors find that these phenomena are common to developing countries worldwide. For example, Ebeke and Ölçer (2017) find that low-income countries' election cycles influence their governments' appetites for spending, particularly for highly-visible infrastructure projects. Such spending peaks before elections and declines thereafter, once policy-makers are no longer under pressure to produce immediate tangible results for their constituents. Furthermore, as Ray, Gallagher, and Sanborn (2020) find in a series of infrastructure case studies in South America, these political considerations frequently result in governments' declaring of particularly visible projects as "strategic," thereby exempting them from comprehensive environmental and social risk management in order to expedite them, often resulting in highly-visible project-related failures, delays, and/or conflicts. Finally, Ballón et al (2017), also studying Latin America, find that all of the above factors are further complicated by global commodity super-cycles. When global prices fall after a commodity boom, developing countries that depend on commodity exports for foreign exchange tend to relax the regulatory framework for new inbound international investment, in the hopes of attracting fresh infusions of hard currency. Ultimately, as Ray et al (2017) find, these lapses can leave foreign investors and lenders committed to projects that have received insufficient planning and oversight from their local governments, opening the door for reputational damage for the international partner, environmental damage to local ecosystems, and social conflict in the surrounding communities.

For all of the reasons listed above, DFIs have established corporate practices to shield their portfolios from these conflicts of interest. Such protections need not interfere in borrowers' domestic policy, but simply protect DFIs from participation in projects that will become ensnared in technical, environmental, or social complications.

3.1.2 Upstream Engagement of DFIs

Before projects are proposed, each of these DFIs collaborates with borrowers to create sectoral and regional strategies and generate project proposals that are both financially and environmentally sustainable. They do so through three main avenues: strategic, technical, and financial. First, strategic cooperation produces long-term plans for project development. This can take place through cross-sector country development strategies, more specific plans for selected sectors or themes such as transportation or green energy transitions, or at the regional level through the creation of transnational, harmonized networks of projects. Second, technical cooperation shares the DFI's knowledge base with borrowers, to assist in turning ideas into specific projects. Finally, they offer financial assistance, through grants or concessional financing, for the generation of the studies necessary to present a proposal for DFI support.

	Global		R	Regional			Bilateral		
	WB	IFC	ADB	AIIB	CAF	DBSA	JICA	JBIC	
Strategic project identification support									
Country level	В	Р	В	Х	Х	Х	Р	Х	
Sector level	В	В	В	В	В	В	Р	Р	
Thematic level	В	В	В	N	В	В	Х	Х	
Regional level	В	Х	В	Р	Р	Х	Х	Х	
Technical project preparation support									
Direct support by staff	В	Р	В	В	В	В	В	Р	
Indirect support through third parties	В	В	В	В	В	В	В	Х	
Financial project preparation support									
Grant support, general	В	Х	В	В	В	В	В	Х	
Grant support, thematic	В	В	В	Х	Х	В	Х	Х	
Grant support, company-specific	Х	В	В	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Facility, general	В	Х	В	В	В	В	Х	Х	
Facility, thematic		В	В	Х	Х	В	Х	Х	
Facility, company-specific	Х	В	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	

Table 3.2 DFI Upstream Engagement

Legend:

B Broad availability and use of this type of assistance

P Partial availability in certain sectors or themes, such as public transit, infrastructure or regional integration

integration

X Not available to any significant extent

Source: Adapted from Rahill (2021).

A few examples merit particular mentions. The ADB is active in all of strategic engagement approaches discussed here. Its Country Partnership Strategies lay out general directions for given borrowers, while its Energy Sector Strategy and Climate Strategy do so on the sector and thematic bases. Regionally, its Central Asia Regional Economic Cooperation Transport Strategy envisions linked networks across regional partners. A recent ADB internal evaluation found that this type of upstream engagement is an important driver of new project development. ¹⁷ The AIIB, the newest of the DFIs profiled here, has developed and adopted a "Sustainable Energy for Asia" strategic approach to collaborative planning for interconnected, green energy networks.

Collaboration on project development can take technical or financial approaches. For example, the DBSA offers infrastructure planning solutions for municipalities, to assist lower-capacity local governments with project identification support. On the financial side, CAF's Public Transport Improvement Program and Regional Logistics Development Program offer pre-

¹⁷ ADB. 2020. Sector-wide Evaluation: ADB Energy Policy and Program, 2009–2019.

investment financial support for developing new projects in specific sectors. JBIC takes a broader, trans-sectoral approach, with its Global Facility to Promote Quality Infrastructure Investment for Environmental Preservation and Sustainable Growth.

3.1.3 Project Screening

Table 3.3 explores DFIs approach to 13 common environmental aspects of proposed project. As the table shows, DFIs have significant agreement on covering pollution-based concerns in their operations, often with reference in high-level policy to reinforce the primacy of these considerations. Notably, most DFIs' approach climate change mitigation in this category, through technical requirements akin to those covering pest management or hazardous materials. The only DFI without an institutional application of pollution concerns is JICA, which does not address resource efficiency or greenhouse gas emissions, either in policy or operations.

It is also noteworthy that CAF and DBSA – two purely south-south DFIs– have widespread operational incorporation of all but one of the concerns here. This finding reinforces the compatibility between developing country interests and mainstreaming environmental concerns in project evaluation.

	Global		Regional			Bilateral			
	WB	IFC	ADB	AIIB	CAF	DBSA	JICA	JBIC	
	2016	2012	2009	2019	2015	2020	2010	2015	
Pollution: mitigation hierarchy:									
prevention, management, control,	PO	PO	PO	PO	PO	PO	0	0	
abatement									
Resource efficiency (particularly energy and water)	РО	РО	0	Ο	0	РО	Х	0	
Wastes, including hazardous materials	Ο	0	0	Ο	0	0	Ο	0	
Pest management	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Greenhouse gas emissions as a pollutant	Ο	0	0	Ο	0	0	Х	0	
Biodiversity, habitats, and forests	PO	PO	PO	PO	PO	PO	РО	РО	
Living natural resources: provision for crops, livestock, fisheries	Ο	0	Р	х	РО	0	Ο	Ο	
Invasive alien species	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Ecosystems and ecosystem services	Р	0	Х	0	0	0	Р	0	
Specific provisions for biodiversity offsets (beyond mitigation hierarchy)	0	0	Х	Р	0	0	Х	0	
Provisions for no net loss (biodiversity and/or habitat)	Ο	0	Р	Х	0	Ο	Ο	0	
Provisions for net gain (loss of critical habitat)	Ο	0	Х	Х	0	Ο	Х	0	
Supply chains (crops, livestock, and deforestation)	0	0	Х	Х	Х	0	Х	0	

 Table 3.3: Environmental Project Evaluation Criteria

Legend:

PO Covered at the highest level of Policy/standard/requirement and Operations.

O Clearly referenced in policy/standards and incorporated into DFI **Operations** but not in high-level policy.

P Referenced in **Policy** or guidance but without specificity and/or without incorporation into operations.

X Not addressed in policies or practice to any great extent. Source: Adapted from Rahill (2021).

Table 3.4 delves more deeply into the specific tasks and mechanisms employed by each DFI during the process of screening project proposals. Here it becomes clear that MDBs tend to have significantly greater coverage of these technical requirements than do the bilateral institutions covered here, though CAF also has a more limited application of these measures.

Almost every DFI studied here classifies projects into one of several risk categories, based on factors such as sector and location, which then determines the level of scrutiny that the project proposal will receive before being considered for approval. The World Bank and IFC have a dynamic approach to these risk factors, adjusting them during project implementation based on performance, which then influences future oversight during project execution.

	Global		Regional			Bilateral		
	WB	IFC	ADB	AIIB	CAF	DBSA	JICA	JBIC
	2016	2012	2009	2019	2015	2020	2010	2015
Screening and risk categorization								
Application of risk/impact rating at								
project preparation stage	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х
(3 or 4 point scale)								
Implementation-phase specific rating	Х	Х						
Exclusion / divestment lists								
Corporate-level exclusion	v	v	Х	Х	Х	v		
list/divestment commitment	Λ	А				Λ		
Additional E&S exclusion	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х			Х
Use of country or industry standards								
Criteria and conditions for use of	v		v	v				
borrower standards	Λ		Λ	Λ				
Reference to technical / industry	V	v	Х	Х		v	v	Х
standards	Λ	Λ				Λ	Λ	
E&S Due Diligence Review: provisions								
for specific types of lending								
Financial intermediaries	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	
Advisory services and/or technical	v	Х				v	Х	
assistance	Λ					Λ		
Co-financing arrangements / common	v		v	v	v			
approach	Λ		Λ	Λ	Л			
Emergency lending	Х		Х	Х			Х	
Projects to be defined during								
implementation (framework	Х		Х	Х		Х		
agreements, facilities, etc)								
Financial products other than loans	Х	v						
and grants (equity, guarantees, etc)		Λ						

Table 3.4: DFI E&S Risk Management Processes and Procedures during Screening

Source: Adapted from Rahill (2021). Note: X indicates the use of a given process or procedure.

Another very commonly used institutional mechanism to screen out the highest-risk projects is the use of exclusion lists or divestment commitments. Almost all DFIs studied here have either a formal or informal commitment to refrain from supporting certain activities with particularly high environmental or social risks. Other, more informal divestment pledges have begun to appear, in which DFIs agree to align their lending activities with climate change mitigation goals, often by eliminating coal finance from their portfolios. For example, the World Bank does not have a formal exclusion list but eliminated nearly all financing for coal. Japan has tightened its lending rules on coal, but to such a minor extent (only extending coal financing to countries that have instituted decarbonization plans) that it does not merit inclusion here as an exclusion list.

It is also noteworthy that lender-based safeguards are not wholly incompatible with reliance on country systems. Indeed, several of the largest DFIs studied here (AIIB, ADB, and the World Bank) rely on them under specific conditions, depending on the strength of those local standards.

Box 3.2 Coal: A Special Case in Lending Exclusion

Exclusion lists are an important tool for DFI risk management, and perhaps no sector has garnered as much international attention in this regard as coal (see for example Himberg, Xu, and Gallagher 2020; Nakhooda 2011; Steffen and Schmidt 2019). DFIs have increasingly distanced themselves from coal finance, with some instituting formal commitments in this regard. Notably, this has included Japan, the top source of coal finance for newly operating plants in recent years (GEM 2021). Since 2013, no global or regional DFI studied here has directly financed coal projects, and some are actively embracing their role in supporting green energy transitions (see for example CAF 2020; Gombar 2021; World Bank 2020).

In 2013 the World Bank ushered in a new era by limiting its support for coal to "rare circumstances" (World Bank 2013). It has not directly financed any coal-fired power plants in the last decade (World Bank 2013, World Bank 2020). It has also begun to proactively support countries with long histories of coal development in their strategies for a "just transition" (shifting away from coal without harming coal-dependent communities and livelihoods) through programs such as the Platform Imitative in Support of Coal Regions in Transition (World Bank 2019).

The IFC has also not explicitly banned all coal support, but has enacted a "30 by 30" policy to increase climate-related lending to 30% of its portfolio and reduce coal support to zero or near-zero by 2030 (IFC 2020). It has also enacted restrictions on the use of its investments in financial intermediary institutions: they must "ringfence" IFC support to ensure that it does not support coal activities.

The ADB is the only one of the regional DFIs studied here to adopt a formal policy against coal-related finance (ADB 2021), though none of these regional DFIs have actively supported coal plants since 2013. Finally, while CAF does not have a formal prohibition on coal projects, recent annual reports show no record of coal finance in the last 20 years (CAF 2020).

The bilateral institutions show a variety of approaches. In March 2021, JBIC became the first of these to announce it would no longer accept applications for coal projects, although its peer JICA has not yet made any such a commitment, and is currently supporting the Matarbari coal-fired power plant in Bangladesh (JICA 2019, Proctor 2021). The DBSA recognizes the historically important role that coal has played in Southern Africa but makes no reference in recent annual reports to coal support, and has instead begun new initiatives to support just transitions. In fact, it has financed more regional renewable energy projects (33) than any other DFI (DBSA 2021; Muñoz Cabré et al 2020).

3.1.4 Implementation and Monitoring

Once a proposal has been approved, international DFIs continue to provide oversight and support, through monitoring, assistance in information disclosure, and independent accountability mechanisms to resolve problems that may arise in the course of project construction and operations. Where borrowing countries find themselves with unsustainable debt burdens, international DFIs have also participated in sustainability-enhancing debt renegotiations, including debt swaps for conservation or climate change mitigation or adaptation projects. Newly emerging instruments such as nature-linked bonds have open even more avenues for environmental management in development finance for the future.

Table 3.5 shows a wide variety of institutional mechanisms for oversight of projects already approved. As above, JBIC, JICA, and CAF have the sparsest coverage, having adopted only two or three of the requirements. The project management mechanisms detailed in Table 3.5 show the variety of approaches to the co-governance of projects with local governments, who oversee the day-to-day details of project construction and operation. One of the most common approaches is to empower local communities to communicate directly with the DFI in the planning as well as implementation stages. During the planning stages, access to information and stakeholder consultation processes can expose project risks that may not have been immediately clear in feasibility studies and ESIAs. Once projects are underway, complaint and grievance mechanisms can expose harm before it becomes a danger to the project itself or surrounding communities.

	Global		Regional			Bilateral		
	WB 2016	IFC 2012	ADB 2009	AIIB 2019	CAF 2015	DBSA 2020	JICA 2010	JBIC 2015
Disclosure requirements		-						
Disclosure of lender-produced documents - ongoing during implementation	X	X		Х			Х	X
Facilitation of disclosure of borrower- produced documents	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	
Supervision and monitoring								
Use of independent / third party monitors	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		
Lender determination of Broad Community Support / FPIC	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х		
Project completion provisions	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х		
Special provisions for highest risk / complex operations		Х		Х		Х		
Accountability mechanisms								
Independent accountability mechanism IAM	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х

Table 3.5: DFI E&S Risk Management Processes and Procedures during

Implementation

Source: Adapted from Rahill (2021).
Box 3.3 Transparency Plus: Special Considerations with regard to Gender and Ethnicity

In addition to the general requirements described in Tables 3.3 and 3.4, many DFIs have come to recognize the importance of targeted outreach to heavily affected communities and segments of communities. In particular, stakeholders may be affected differently by environmental harm along their ethnic and gender divisions.

As described in detail in the 2020 CCICED Special Policy Study on the Green BRI and 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (Zhou, Shi, and Gallagher, 2020), many agricultural communities divide daily tasks by gender, meaning that men and women interact differently with their natural environments. Women are often tasked with household food production while men are employed for pay, so that women's tasks are more directly impacted by damage to water or soil, for example. That gendered division of labor means that damage to biodiversity often impacts women to a greater extent than men, with a cascading impact on household food security and the community as a whole. However, societies with gendered divisions of labor often also have gendered divisions in community gatherings and discussions, so that women's concerns may not be heard in community-wide meetings. For this reason, many DFIs now recognize the importance of taking gender into account in the transparency requirements shown in Table 3.4. For example, the Convention on Biological Diversity's 2015-2020 Gender Action Plan (CDB 2017) calls for calculating project costs and benefits separately for men and women in stakeholder communities. A 2019 inter-DFI report – with participation from the ADB, AIIB and World Bank, among others – recommends incorporating gender in transparency and accountability mechanisms.

Environmental impacts are also experienced differently across ethnic lines, particularly among indigenous communities. While these communities have tremendous diversity among themselves, two common attributes are the continued use of traditional livelihoods that depend on intact ecosystems (such as hunting, fishing, and gathering) and incomplete property rights (such that the lands and waters that have traditionally supported them may not be legally recognized as theirs). For this reason, many DFIs have enacted special provisions to ensure that their needs are taken into account in project preparation and oversight. All of the global and regional DFIs profiled here have specific policies for incorporating indigenous input in project planning and accountability, minimizing or mitigating environmental harm that impacts them, and compensates them for any unavoidable loss or displacement.

3.1.5 Sustainability-enhancing Debt Renegotiation

In cases where borrower debt levels become unsustainable, DFIs have actively participated in sustainability-enhancing debt renegotiation. These may take several forms, but generally include collaboration between borrower and lender to convert existing debt repayment commitments into conservation or climate projects. Crucially, this type of arrangement does not involve imposing conditionality on debt restructuring or forgiveness, but requires debtor nation leadership, usually over a period of years, to plan for the structure and management of the new funds ("The Initiative" 2019; "Seychelles Marine" n.d.).

When implemented well, debt-for-nature swaps can allow chronically indebted countries an alternative to environmentally-damaging activities to pay down debt. They can also create an institutional structure to oversee the establishment of definitions of sustainable economic activities appropriate for the newly protected areas, and the fiscal space to ensure that the new protections are well-managed, with adequate participation from local communities to ensure

enforcement. However, these swaps are not quick fixes for debt crises, nor can they bring a sudden stop to ongoing ecological disasters. Establishing the conservation areas is a process of multiple years. Thus, rather than being used as a last resort or rescue option for disaster scenarios, it is best considered as a long-term, pro-active approach to conservation. In this regard, they are well-suited to the needs of borrowers currently planning sustainable recoveries from the COVID-19 pandemic.

As countries face the challenge of rebuilding from the COVID-19 pandemic amidst debt overhangs, bilateral sustainability-enhancing debt renegotiation is likely to play an important role. In addition to traditional swap mechanisms, new instruments such as nature-linked bonds may be particularly useful in the current context. These instruments link repayment terms to borrowers' progress toward sustainability goals, but the funds are not linked to specific projects. Thus, borrowers may use them to fund immediate humanitarian efforts while their overall sustainability goals also become more affordable. They may be particularly attractive for bilateral creditors, who can easily convert existing debt to such bonds, and may even choose to denominate them in their own currencies. While these new instruments may be particularly well-suited for bilateral creditors, they are drawing attention from multilateral lenders as well. They have received attention from multilateral creditors such as the ADB (Bhandari 2020) and the World Bank (Caputo Silva and Stewart 2021).

3.2 Environmental Management Mechanisms for ODA of Japan and South Korea

China, Japan, and South Korea are the three major economies in East Asia and the signatories to the Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership (RCEP). Their total GDP accounts for more than one fifth of the global GDP, which enables them to play a significant role in the global economy. Among them, Japan and South Korea used to be the key components of the ancient Silk Road, and now the major participants of global outbound investment activities. In 2019, Japan and South Korea ranked the 1st and the 11th among all countries in terms of foreign investment amount, which became the 3rd and the 10th in 2020.¹⁸ Thus, this chapter focuses on Japan and South Korea to review the environmental management mechanisms in their Official Development Assistance (ODA), including the system design, policy making, specific practice, and experience gained, which can serve as useful references for BRI projects to carry out environmental management.

3.2.1 Environmental Management in ODA of Japan

3.2.1.1 Management Mechanisms

In 1988, Japan became the biggest ODA provider in the world. However, as its ODA recipient countries failed to mitigate damages to the local environment in their process of development, Japan's ODA received persistent criticism from the world. In response to such criticism, Japan began to explore approaches to providing ODA in a way that assist other countries to develop

¹⁸ Source: World Investment Report, https://unctad.org/topic/investment/world-investment-report

and at the same time urge them to consider environmental protection. In other words, Japan aimed to extend the original ODA to "green ODA". Thus, the following management mechanisms have been put into place:

Firstly, specialized agencies were set up to formulate guidelines for environmental protection. In 1986, the Japanese Ministry of Environment held a seminar on environmental conservation for ODA projects. In 1988, it established an environmental research institute under JICA. Built on the research results of the institute, environmental guidelines were formulated by JICA and Overseas Economic Cooperation Fund (OECF) and then incorporated into the Outline of Japan's ODA Activity after being approved at the cabinet members meeting in 1992, stipulating that environmental protection and economic development are equally important.

Secondly, environmental and social standards and principles for overseas investments have been developed. In order to reduce the environmental impacts of overseas investment projects, JICA and JBIC formulated environmental guidelines respectively such as Guidelines for Environmental and Social Considerations and JBIC Guidelines for Confirmation of Environmental and Social Considerations, so as to implement the projects according to environmental guidelines with full consideration of their social and environmental impact to the region.



For Category FI projects, JBIC confirms through the financial intermediary that the proper environmental and social considerations indicated in the Environment Guidelines have been followed for the project.

Projects are classified into one of the following four categories in relation to the degree of environmental impact, based on the information provided by the project proponent during the screening process.

Category A	Project with the potential for a serious and adverse impact on the environment.
Category B	Project with the potential for an adverse impact on the environment, but less than that of Category A projects.
Category C	Project with the potential for minimal or no adverse impact on the environment.
Category FI	Project for which JBIC provides funding to a financial intermediary, and after acceptance of JBIC funding, the financial intermediary selects and conducts screenings for specific subprojects, in cases where subprojects cannot be determined prior to acceptance of JBIC funding, and where such subprojects are anticipated to have an impact on the environment.

Source: The Role and Function of the Japan Bank for International Cooperation. JBIC. https://www.jbic.go.jp/ja/

Figure 3.1 "Procedure for Confirmation of Environmental Considerations" Prior to Funding Decisions in JBIC

Thirdly, multiple agents including the government and non-governmental organizations have been working together to boost environmental protection efforts in ODA. Citizen leagues and civic groups have been monitoring and criticizing environmental issues in ODA practice via media, which forced Ministry of Foreign Affairs to focus on the quality of ODA operations, and especially the formulation of related environmental policies and guidelines.

3.2.1.2 Good Practice

Firstly, a clear and green foreign investment strategy has been put in place. Japan has actively bid for the 8th Meeting of Conference of Parties (COP 8) to the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES), and joined the International Environmental Technology Center (IETC) under the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). By so doing, Japan has put environmental issues on the government's agenda and gradually formed a consensus on environment within the government. As a result, green measures for ODA are implemented from top to bottom. From 1986 to 1996, the proportion of ODA directed at environmental issues increased from 4% to 27%.

Secondly, special agencies have been established to formulate and implement environmental guidelines. Japan guides its domestic enterprises to participate in overseas aid and investment projects through JICA and JBIC, and reduces the project impacts on the environment of recipient countries by formulating a series of environmental planning guidelines and application procedures. In the process of implementation, JICA and JBIC are responsible for whole life cycle evaluation and monitoring of these projects. Once the implementation is confirmed to be in violation of environmental regulations, punitive measures will be adopted to rein in or even stop loans.

Thirdly, the Japanese government has accelerated the overseas layout of its green industries in the process of assisting host countries to solve environmental pollution and develop green industries with technical support. Besides enhancing the green level of environmental management for ODA and overseas investment projects, Japan also makes active use of advanced environmental protection technologies to enhance host countries' capacity to deal with its environmental pollution, and "transfer" green industries to the host countries. On one hand, Japan creates new opportunities for the development of green industries in the host countries, and helps to satisfy local residents' needs for employment and economic development; on the other hand, it assists Japanese enterprises to cooperate with host countries in a more positive way while enhancing its national visibility and soft power, thus promoting domestic economic growth.

3.2.2 Environmental Management in ODA of South Korea

3.2.2.1 Management Mechanisms

South Korea's ODA history can be divided into two stages – before and after joining the OECD in 1996. After joining the OECD, especially since its entry into Development Assistance Committee (DAC) of OECD in 2009, South Korea has gradually formed a systematic and well-established ODA system.

In January 2006, South Korea set up the Committee for International Development Cooperation (CIDC) directly under the Prime Minister's jurisdiction in order to strengthen unified management of ODA policy implementation. The Committee has had two parallel organizations, Korea International Cooperation Agency (KOICA) and Economic Development Cooperation Fund (EDCF), chaired by South Korea's Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MOFA) and Ministry of Strategy and Finance (MOSF) respectively. The CIDC, as an institution under the Prime Minister's Office, is chaired by the Prime Minister of South Korea. The responsibilities of the Committee are to deliberate on the plans and reports formulated by MOSF and MOFA for concessional loans and grant aids, and to conduct evaluation.

By establishing KOICA under the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and EDCF under the Ministry of Strategy and Finance, South Korea has built a mature ODA management system which can realize unified management with two sub-organizations each responsible for one sector, thus ensuring both a clear division of labor and a unified strategy. KOICA is mainly responsible for the formulation and implementation of grant aids, covering main areas such as material supplies, emergency relief, development investigation, application for graduate students, overseas volunteer activities, cooperation with international institutions, and implementation of grant aids projects. The organization is also responsible for the formulation of basic plans and annual implementation plans in various fields as well as the evaluation of project implementation. By contrast, EDCF, operated by the Export-Import Bank of Korea, is mainly responsible for the formulation of basic plans of concessional loans and implementation plans of the current year, collection and use of foreign aid funds, as well as direct provision of funds or provision of loans through international financial institutions to recipient countries.



Source: 대한민국 ODA 통합홈페이지 국제개발협력위원회 구성: https://www.odakorea.go.kr/ODAPage_2018/category02/L04_S01_01.jsp, 2021.03 Figure 3.2 Organizational Structure of ODA Management in South Korea

3.2.2.2 Good Practice

Firstly, a well-structured legal system for overseas investment has been established and due attention been paid to sustainable development. On December 26, 1986, South Korea enacted its first law on foreign investment, *Korea Economic Development Cooperation Fund Act*, which came into force on April 23, 1987. "Sustainable development and humanitarianism" is defined as one of the five major principles in the Act. The Act provides a legal basis for the establishment of EDCF, which stipulates that EDCF is under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Strategy and Finance, and sets up a fund operation committee to operate and manage the fund. This Act, together with other relevant basic laws related to KOICA promulgated in 1991, constitutes the early regulatory system of South Korea's foreign investment policy. In order to further prioritize foreign investment from institutional level, South Korea promulgated the *Framework Act on International Development Cooperation* in January 2010, which came into

effect in the same year. The law has clarified the purpose and definition of development assistance, explained the basic concepts and principles of foreign investment policy, stipulated the mechanism and mode for the implementation of the policy, and ensured the continuity of South Korea's foreign investment policy.

Secondly, a planning and implementation system to achieve UN's sustainable development goals has been finalized. Under relevant laws and regulations, South Korea plans to deploy its overseas investment based on planning. The top-level plan is the five-year *Strategic Plan for International Development Cooperation* (referred to as the Plan) which serves as a strategic document for South Korea's bilateral cooperation (grants and loans) and multilateral cooperation. The Plan points out the basic direction, scale and implementation method of policies on international development cooperation with clear planning for medium-and long-term investment plans for major countries of cooperation. With the promulgation of the Plan, South Korea's foreign investment policy is elevated to the level of national strategy.



Source: 대한민국 ODA 통합홈페이지 추진체계: https://www.odakorea.go.kr/ODAPage_2018/category02/L04_S01_01.jsp, 2021.03 Figure 3.3 Implementation System for ODA Management in South Korea

At present, the Plan has been updated for three times, with sustainable development, environmental protection, and green development as an integral part. Safe Guards are also specified in the evaluation system of *The Third Strategic Plan for International Development Cooperation (2021-2025)* of South Korea. These Safe Guards regard minimum impact on the environment, society and human rights during the whole life cycle of project implementation as the basic obligation.

Thirdly, a full-cycle and multi-faceted evaluation mechanism is implemented. As an important part of policy implementation, the evaluation mechanism for South Korea's ODA can well serve its role in improving policy preparation, guiding policy implementation, and correcting mistakes in policy implementation. The evaluation mechanism runs through the whole life cycle of investment, including early feasibility study, mid-term evaluation and post assessment. On this basis, South Korea also evaluates the implementation of investment projects based on "self-assessment, assessment by evaluation committees, peer review among OECD countries and third-party assessment by non-governmental organizations". It adopts a set of evaluation standards that derive from OECD's evaluation standards with major principles including moderation, efficiency, effectiveness, impact, and sustainability.

3.3 Summary

As this chapter has demonstrated, DFIs have undergone significant convergence on their management of environmental risks in their lending portfolio. DFI risk management systems with the most recent reforms also have the most comprehensive set of considerations covered by their systems, showing a growing understanding of the importance of this work. Furthermore, several components of risk management have gained near-universal adoption, indicating that these practices are essential for any DFI interested in adequately addressing environmental concerns.

First, a sound environmental risk management system begins with upstream engagement, working with borrowers to develop portfolios of projects that are both environmentally and financially sustainable. This process puts the lender's expertise at the service of borrowing countries, to develop their priorities into specific high-quality project proposals. While DFIs' approach to this upstream engagement varies, it coalesces around three categories of work: strategic project planning, technical project preparation, and financial assistance for pre-investment studies.

Once borrower submits project proposals, high-quality environmental management systems apply screening steps to protect the reputational and financial interests of the lender. One common element of screening steps includes the use of exclusion of certain sectors or corporations that have been deemed too risky, such as coal financing or contractors with poor track records. Additional risk screening considerations include a given project's expected impact on pollution, greenhouse gas emissions, biodiversity, and ecosystem services.

During project construction and operation, the proactive DFIs shifts focus from estimating the likely risks and toward monitoring the implementation to ensure that the developers' plans and promises are met. To ensure a full understanding of project performance, DFIs prioritize and rely on independent third parties for project monitoring. They also regularly assist with the publication of project-related documents, so that any stakeholder may bring performance issues

to the attention of the lender or developer. Finally, a world-class environmental risk management system is completed with an independent accountability mechanism to receive and consider grievances from the public.

As members of OECD-DAC, Japan and South Korea have similar practices in ODA environmental management with those of DFIs. At same time, their practices fully demonstrate the positive role of the "sovereign subjects" in developing policy systems and management mechanisms. Their successful experience can be further summarized as follows:

Firstly, it is important to fully consider the demands of host countries, pay close attention to the challenges faced by them in response to climate change and environmental protection, explore the full process of integrating high-quality, sustainable, risk-resisting, affordable and inclusive goals into project construction, and earnestly improve the environmental protection capacity of BRI countries. Meanwhile, efforts should be made to increase green investment into host countries, and facilitate green and low-carbon transformation and upgrading of traditional polluting industries in host countries by utilizing investors' advantages in green technologies and industrial development.

Secondly, it is necessary to set up a full-cycle, multi-faceted evaluation mechanism for investment projects. A full-cycle evaluation mechanism should be adopted for foreign investment projects. At the early stage, feasibility reports and EIA reports should be mandatory. In the process of implementation, effective monitoring and inspection are crucial to guarantee the compliance in implementation. When the project is completed, continuous evaluation and feedback of project operation is recommended to summarize experiences which can be referred to and learnt by future investments of the same kind.

Thirdly, the role expatriate agencies should be emphasized. It is important to enhance the professional staffing for expatriate agencies in key investment industries and ecological and environmental sectors. The government needs to help enterprises gain a deeper understanding of laws, regulations, customs, and values of host countries, and adopt more effective localization strategies. Moreover, effective mitigation and reduction of environmental and social impacts on the project site and its surrounding region plays a critical role in advancing the cooperation in relevant sectors. For instance, expatriate agencies can cooperate with host countries to jointly investigate regional ecological environment. They can set up localized communication channels to guarantee adequate communication with local governments, enterprises, residents and NGOs in host countries during the whole life cycle of the project, so as to ensure smooth project implementation and effectively minimize environmental and social impacts of the project.

4. POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the above studies, this chapter puts forward targeted policy recommendations on promoting the full alignment of Green BRI with 2030 Sustainable Development Agenda, with particular focus on the environmental management for BRI investment and financing. At the strategic level, the recommendations outline 4 priority areas for BRI green investment and financing to support sustainable development. At the public governance level, there are 4 policy recommendations on guiding non-governmental entities to practice environmental management. At the level of practical implementation, 5 pillars are proposed to enhance whole life cycle environmental management for BRI investment and financing projects. These recommendations aim to establish an environmental management.

4.1 Priority Areas for Boosting Sustainable Development in Overseas BRI Projects

4.1.1 Broaden the Scope of BRI Alignment to Specifically Incorporate SDGs

Global climate change has become one of the major challenges for human survival and development in the 21st century. ¹⁹ The intensity and total amount of carbon dioxide emission of some BRI participating countries are not outstanding due to their economic development model and level. However, BRI has gathered many emerging economies with the most growth potential and vitality. Considering the potential of economic growth and sensitivity to climate change of BRI participating countries, incorporating the goals to deal with climate crisis and conserve biodiversity into the development of green Silk Road and cooperation with overseas BRI projects, fostering synergy among SDGs, and facilitating cooperation in areas such as green infrastructure, green energy and green finance, will be vital for BRI participating countries to achieve sustainable development and realize green and low-carbon recovery in the post-pandemic era.

Box 4.1 Highlighting Sustainable Development of the Host Country: Second Wind Farm of Three Gorges Pakistan Wind Power Generation Phase II Project

The Second Wind Farm of the Three Gorges Pakistan Wind Power Generation Phase II Project (hereinafter referred to as the Second Wind Farm) is one of the actively promoted projects along the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor (CPEC). It is located in the Tata area of northeastern Karachi City, Sindh Province, southern Pakistan, with a total site area of 2.75km². It has 33 wind turbines with installed capacity of 1.5MW per unit and 49.5MW in total. The project is invested and constructed by the China Three Gorges International Corporation (corporate's own capital accounting for 25% and bank loans for the rest), and adopts BOO (Building-Owning-Operation) model. According to the franchise agreement and energy purchase agreement (EPA) between China and Pakistan, the project is constructed, operated and managed by Three Gorges Pakistan Second Wind Power Company. The project started in January 2016 and was

¹⁹ IPCC AR5. Intergovernmental panel on climate change fifth assessment report (AR5) [R]. London: Cambride University Press, 2013.

put into commercial operation in June 2018. All generated power is sold to Pakistan Central Power Purchasing Agency (CPPA-G).



Aerial View of the Second Wind Farm

Pakistan relies mainly on thermal power, with hydropower as supplement. The power supply is tight, and the energy demand keeps growing at medium to high speed. The Second Wind Farm is a typical case of new energy cooperation between China and Pakistan, with an annual power generation of about 100-150 million kWh. It provides clean power to Karachi, the largest city in Pakistan, and reduces the consumption of fossil energy in the region, which is of positive significance for protecting ecological environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions and exploring green development of Pakistan's economy and society. In addition, the Second Wind Farm has trained a large number of engineering construction management talents for the localities, employing more than 30 middle and senior engineering and technical management personnel on site. It has built or renovated about 30 kilometers of roads, which has played an important role in stimulating local employment, improving people's livelihood and strengthening infrastructure construction. Besides, the project has always paid attention to social welfare, donating a large number of teaching supplies to primary schools near the project site, which improved the hardware facilities of the schools.

4.1.2 Promote a Common Understanding of the Definition of Green Investment among BRI Participating Countries

With the communication and dissemination of the concepts of ecological civilization and green development, and the deepening global understanding of the importance of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, green investment has been widely accepted and welcomed by countries all over the world as a new field of sustainable investment. It is thus recommended that China develop a catalogue or taxonomy to clarify the scope and standards of green BRI investment and further engage in the formulation of green investment standards in the host countries and those at international level. This would facilitate the benchmarking and convergence of green investment standards in China, BRI participating countries, and the

international ones, assist public and private sectors to identify green projects efficiently, and enhance the funding for sustainable development of the BRI.

4.1.3 Increase the Support and Guidance from Public Sector for BRI Green Financing

Investment and financing has a particularly important role in guiding positive actions and facilitating positive changes. Public sector participation is an indispensable supporting force for green financing development. It is suggested making coordinated use of public sector resources such as preferential policies, financial support and ODA to direct and encourage international investors, and investors from both public and private sectors in BRI participating countries to the environmental, social and governance (ESG) responsible investment with ownership. Based on the projects' demand for green investment and financing management, it is recommended to explore and establish a BRI green investment and financing evaluation system and give full play to the guiding role of investment and financing in the construction of a green Silk Road. It is necessary to develop a green performance evaluation methodology according to internationally accepted green certification standards, bring in third-party evaluation institutions in the evaluation practice, develop standardized and differentiated green assessment tools, summarize green management experience, incorporate evaluation results into foreign economic cooperation credit records, and put in place incentive and accountability mechanisms as appropriate.

4.1.4 Strengthen International Cooperation, Communication, and Capacity Building

It is recommended to promote communication and regulatory cooperation in key areas such as top-level/upstream planning, pollution prevention, environmental governance, biodiversity conservation, climate change response, as well as green and low-carbon transition. It is necessary to enhance cooperation with development financial institutions as well as bilateral, multilateral and regional financial institutions in environmental management, and facilitate the green and low-carbon transformation of the economic systems in the BRI participating countries through joint efforts from relevant countries. Such programs as Belt and Road South-South Cooperation Initiative on Climate Change and the Green Silk Road Envoys Programme should be well used for capacity building to assist BRI participating countries to establish and improve their green finance system and environmental management systems for investment and financing. Make good use of existing multilateral cooperation mechanisms such as the Belt and Road Initiative International Green Development Coalition (BRIGC), the Belt and Road Ecological Big Data Service Platform, and the BRI Green Investment Principle (GIP) to strengthen information and experience sharing among BRI participating countries, and disseminate best practices in environmental and climate management by BRI projects, so as to improve the green reputation of the BRI projects, and attract the participation of global responsible investors.

4.2 Policy Recommendations for Non-Governmental Entities to Practice Environmental Management for BRI Investment and Financing

4.2.1 Financial Institutions: Facilitate the Improvement of a Hierarchical Classification and Management System for BRI Projects

It is recommended to further improve the Green Development Guidance for BRI Projects and strengthen the risk identification, risk quantification and risk exposure management of industries with prominent environmental and climate risks. Based on such eco-environmental protection and climate goals as pollution prevention, biodiversity conservation, efficient energy use, and climate change mitigation and adaptation, establish the positive/negative list of green investment, project classification standards, and technical guidelines for green projects, and practice green investment identification accordingly. Facilitate the construction of sub-platforms including the BRI green project library and the environmental risk management module for BRI investments under the Belt and Road Ecological Big Data Service Platform.

4.2.2 Project Sponsors and Owners: Build an Environmental and Climate Risk Screening and Impact Assessment Framework for Projects

To promote the effective practice of green management in BRI projects at the implementation level, it is necessary to set up a framework for environmental and climate risk screening and impact assessment in the whole lifecycle of the project from the project planning stage. (1) At the project selection stage, it is necessary to examine the risk management ability and practice of the project contractor, and complete the preliminary screening of project risks and impacts. (2) At the stages of project planning and scheme design, a more detailed environmental impact and climate risk assessment should be carried out, with review of management qualification of the selected contractor. (3) Policy compliance review should be carried out under the framework of the host country's foreign investment, environmental management and corporate social responsibility rules. (4) At the project implementation stage, continuous project reporting, monitoring and evaluation are required according to the project contract content, the agreement with the project investor and the regulatory requirements of the host country and the countries where project stakeholders are located. Corresponding information should be made public at major project milestones on the timeline.

In addition, the framework should pay special attention to gender equality elements, and identify possible impacts of the project on women's rights and interests in their communities, and the contribution of the project in improving women's employment and protecting women's development rights and interests in local communities, so as to inform subsequent projects as reference.

Box 4.2 Whole Process Green Assessment Framework for BRI Projects

To contribute to screening, evaluation and monitoring of the environment and climate friendliness of BRI projects, FECO of MEE developed in 2017 the Whole Process Green Assessment Framework for BRI

Investment Projects, covering key activities including project announcement, submission of application, investor examination, project proposal, project establishment assessment, project implementation, and project monitoring. Green assessment guidelines were prepared for the above key milestones. The following entry points are recommended for the green assessment.

(1) **Project Announcement:** At this stage, project applicants should provide necessary information for the investors to review and identify their qualification. In addition to the general information, for projects in 'environmentally sensitive sectors', the project applicant should provide evidence to prove that it has sufficient and appropriate environmental expertise or access to environmental expertise to ensure that environmental considerations are properly incorporated from the outset of project identification.

(2) **Investors Examination:** (i) Assessment of alignment between expected environmental impacts and environmental targets in SDGs, (ii) Assessment of applicant's capacity and expertise of environmental, climate and social impact management, and (iii) Initial environmental screening of the project.

(3) **Project Establishment Assessment:** (i) Articulating the environmental requirements and the requested expertise by project assessment institutions; (ii) Understanding environmental legislations of host country; (iii) Conducting Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and Climate Risk Assessment (CRA) and recording the assessment results; and (iv) Selecting environmental performance indicators for the project.

(4) Guidelines of Environmental Policy Review: The investors shall work with the third-party assessment institutions to assess whether the project is compliant with China's outward investment, environmental management, corporate social responsibility laws and regulations applicable to the project. For "non-compliance" projects, a project optimization proposal shall be submitted, in conjunction with the existing policies and requirements; for "compliance" projects, the procedures of submission, recording, or approval shall be implemented.

(5) Guidelines for Project Implementation Contract: Investors shall ensure that all environmental issues identified are clearly specified in the project contracts and agreements. Specifically, identified environmental indicators should be included in the environmental performance assessment framework and monitoring plan. In the cases where an EIA is undertaken, details of the environmental management plans should be included in the project contract. The contract and agreement of an investment project shall stipulate that the applicants who cannot fulfill the implantation goals are subject to proper penalties, such as loan recovery ahead of schedule or blacklisting.

(6) Monitoring during Project Implementation: (i) Self-monitoring of environmental impacts and performance, and (ii) Independent environmental monitoring and evaluation.



4.2.3 Market Entities: Enhance the Mainstreaming Level of Environmental and Climate Management

It is suggested that various market players involved in BRI investment and financing should formulate comprehensive sustainable development strategies, closely align enterprise development with green BRI development and UN's Sustainable Development Agenda, and regard environmental protection and climate change response as an important part of fulfilling their corporate social responsibilities. It is suggested that market entities should set up special environment and climate mainstreaming management departments or working groups in their management organizations and empower project staff with sustainable development knowledge and concepts to raise their environmental awareness. The departments or working group will also be responsible for providing management training and technical guidance related to environmental and climate risks for key position managers (risk business managers of risk management departments, etc.), project contractors and other relevant parties. In this process, it is necessary to ensure that women can equally undertake management tasks and have equal access to training opportunities.

4.2.4 The Third Party Engagement: Develop Green Management Toolkit for the BRI Overseas Investment

The standard system represented by *Green Industry Guidance Catalogue* and *Catalogue of Green Bond Support Projects* provides a clear basis for investors to identify the green investment direction. Information tools, such as the Whole Process Green Assessment Framework for BRI Projects, the Environmental Risk Screening Tool (ERST), the Climate and Environment Risk Assessment Toolbox (CERAT), and the Belt and Road Ecological Big Data Service Platform, have substantially improved the accessibility of environmental and climate risk and impact assessment. The above-mentioned "tools" have expanded the applicable scope and users of green management for BRI overseas investment, and at the same time improved management efficiency and operability.

It is suggested that management tools such as information system, standardized method, evaluation index system and technical specifications should be developed around key directions of target project screening, project risk identification, risk and impact assessment, classification management, gender mainstreaming, knowledge sharing and capacity building, stakeholder communication and information disclosure, and a green management toolkit for foreign investment be formed for all stakeholders to use.

Box 4.3 Environmental Risk Screening Tool (ERST)

The Environmental Risk Screening Tool for China's Overseas Investment (abbreviated as ERST) is a rapid assessment tool for environmental risks jointly developed by Foreign Environmental Cooperation Center of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment and the Paulson Institute in 2018 and officially launched in 2019. The tool is based on GIS and spatial analysis technologies. Using the global key ecological data and biodiversity data for analysis, ERST is applied in the fast screening of environmental and social risks in the project assessment stage. By inputting project profiles like the country and region

which the project is situated, the sector to which it belongs, and basic project information, the system can automatically create a biodiversity impact and policy compliance analysis report



Map of Project Located Area

ERST's functions have met the application demands of various stakeholders including governmental regulators, trustees, project implementing agencies, and third-party appraisal institutions. For governmental regulators, ERST can provide international core and associated biodiversity information as a reference, so as to avoid or reduce the damages brought by the project. For trustees, the standard information of biodiversity and eco-environment, fast screening of environmental and social risks provided by ERST can help greatly reduce the management cost of investment decisions. For project implementing agencies, based on the analysis results given by ERST, the management authorities can perform accurate risk control supported by internal risk alert and emergency measures. For the third-party assessment institutions, before a deep environmental and social risk analysis, they can use the fast assessment of ERST to identify the key risk points, and greatly reduce the time and expense for the assessment.

Box 4.4 Climate and Environment Risk Assessment Toolbox (CERAT) by GIP

As a risk assessment tool primarily developed by the Working Group 1 (WG1) of Green Investment Principles (GIP) for the Belt and Road Initiative, the Climate and Environment Risk Assessment Toolbox (CERAT) is dedicated to helping financial institutions, regulators, and decision-makers identify and quantify the environmental risks and benefits of investment projects at project, investment portfolio, and strategy levels. In the first phase, CERAT provides carbon accounting for existing and new projects in industry sectors including energy, construction and transportation. Based on anticipated or actual performance, it examines compliance with existing international and national standards, then calculates the carbon emission intensity of the project, benchmarking it against regulatory requirements. The current CERAT Phase II under development includes more information on climate, environmental, biodiversity and water risks to help financial or investment institutions understand and evaluate the environmental risks of investment projects, and enhance the risk prevention ability of financial system.



4.3 Five Key Pillars for Full Lifecycle Environmental Management in BRI Projects

4.3.1 Build a Green Investment Governance System Applicable to All Phases of BRI Projects

Expedite the greening process of foreign investment and financing by enhancing environment management for the whole lifecycle of the projects. The lifecycle of investment projects can be divided into project screening and evaluation, project monitoring and control, reporting and information disclosure, according to the Chinese practices and international norms. Engaged stakeholders should take responsibilities to enhance the green development of project throughout the lifecycle. This should be governed and administered with participation of regulatory authorities and supporting mechanisms such as the accountability mechanism.

4.3.2 Create Exclusionary Lists

A number of global regulators and financial institutions have developed Exclusion Lists of environmentally harmful projects that shall not be funded. Projects on the Exclusion Lists include those that have severe and irreversible negative impacts on the achievement of climate, environmental, and ecological goals without feasible solutions for mitigation. It is recommended that the *Guidelines on the Evaluation and Classification of BRI Projects* ("*Classification Guidelines*" for short) be promulgated on the basis of the *Green Development Guidance for BRI Projects* (BRIGC, 2019). Based on the previous analysis of the policies and standards of other countries and development financial institutions, projects that may result in the deterioration of ecosystems – for example, coal mining, and coal-fired power plants –

should be added in the "exclusion list" and phased out of overseas investment.

4.3.3 Environmental Impact Assessment

Project sponsors/owners would screen projects pertaining to environmental and social risks and impacts. For those projects deemed to have potential environmental and social impacts, the approval and management authorities for BRI projects shall determine the scope, granularity, and management requirements of subsequent Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) for each project based on project type and features. It is recommended that low-risk projects conduct EIA at least in accordance with the local standards in the host country; and that medium- and high-risk projects shall follow more stringent standards in the EIA, e.g. in accordance with the prevailing standards of international organizations and multilateral institutions, the Chinese standards, or other best practice.

4.3.4 Environment and Social Management System

It is recommended that all project sponsors/owners of medium- and high-risk projects shall be required to implement an Environment and Social Management System (ESM) which includes environmental and social risk responses, management plans, and monitoring plans. These sponsors/owners shall also be obliged to report regularly to the administering authorities, regulatory bodies or other stakeholders on ESM progress.

4.3.5 Information Reporting and Disclosure

It is recommended that project sponsors/owners shall report and disclose information related to emissions, pollution, biodiversity targets and impact, risk management, strategy and governance in accordance with required standards or prevailing international standards, where the disclosed information shall be available in Chinese and the major languages of the host countries. It is necessary for the project sponsors/owners to provide a set of easy-to-access and transparent grievance redress mechanisms, set up liaison offices, and make contact methods (phone number and e-mail address) readily available for stakeholders to express concerns. It is suggested that all stakeholders, including project sponsors/owners, host country governments, financial institutions, etc. should further enhance collaboration to share environmental data and best practices and enhance global data repositories on climate and biodiversity data of their projects that are not commercially sensitive with Global Biodiversity Information Facility (BGIF) and relevant national and global data repositories.

REFERENCES

- [1] Asian Development Bank. "Energy Policy: Supporting Low Carbon Transitions in Asia and the Pacific." Manila: ADB, 2021.
- [2] Asian Development Bank. 2012. "Country Safeguard Systems Regional Workshop Proceedings: Towards Common Approaches and Better Results," Manila, 18-19 April, 2012.
- [3] Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank. "Energy Sector Strategy: Sustainable Energy for Asia." Beijing: AIIB, 2018.
- [4] Ballón, Eduardo, Raúl Molina, Claudia Viale, and Carlos Monge. Mining and Institutional Frameworks in the Andean Region. Lima: Natural Resource Governance Institute, 2017.
- [5] Bhandari, Preety. "Can swapping debt for climate action help with pandemic recovery?" Asian Development Bank blog, 29 October, 2020.
- [6] BRIGC. Green Development Guidance for BRI Projects Baseline Study, 2020.
- [7] Buntaine, Mark. Giving Aid Effectively: The Politics of Environmental Performance and Selectivity at Multilateral Development Banks. Oxford University Press, 2016.
- [8] CAF (Development Bank of Latin America). "Annual Report 2019." Caracas: CAF. 2020.
- [9] Campbell, Lauren, Diana Shuhardiman, Mark Giordano, and Peter McCornick. "Environmental Impact Assessment: Theory, practice, and its implications for the Mekong hydropower debate." International Journal of Water, 2015, 4: 93-116.
- [10] De Souza Borges, Caio and Julia Cortez da Cunha Cruz. "Country Systems and Environmental and Social Safeguards in Development Finance Institutions: Assessment of the Brazilian System and Ways Forward for the New Development Bank." São Paulo: Conectas, 2018.
- [11] Development Bank of Southern Africa. "2020 Integrated Annual Report." Midrand, South Africa: DBSA, 2021.
- [12]Ebeke, Christian and Dilan Ölçer. "Fiscal Policy over the Election Cycle in Low-Income Countries." In Fiscal Politics, Vitor Gaspar, Sanjeev Gupta, and Carlos Mulas-Granados, Eds. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund, 2017.
- [13]Ebeke, Christian and Dilan Ölçer. 2017. "Fiscal Policy and the Election Cycle in Low-Income Countries." In Fiscal Politics, Vitor Gaspar, Sanjeer Gupta, and Carlos Mulas-Granados, Eds. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.
- [14] Farand, Chloé. "Asian Multilateral Bank Promises to End Coal-Related Financing." Climate Home News, 11 September, 2020.
- [15]Global Energy Monitor. "Global Coal Plant Tracker." Online database, accessed 17 May, 2021.
- [16]Gombar, Vandana. "ADB 'Open' to Coal Plant Lending, But Doubts Economics: Q&A." BloombergNEF, 25 February, 2021.

- [17] Green Investment Principles. Introduction to the Climate and Environment Risk Assessment Toolbox. https://gipbr.net/cerat.aspx?id=999&m=7
- [18] Harsono, Norman. "Explainer: New Rules in Revised Mining Law. The Jakarta Post, 14 May, 2020.
- [19] Himberg, Harvey, Jiajun Xu, and Kevin P. Gallagher. "Climate Change and Development Bank Project Cycles." Beijing: Peking University International Research Initiative on PDBs and DFIs Working Groups Working Paper, 2020.
- [20] Humphrey, Chris. "The 'Hassle Factor' of MDB Lending and Borrower Demand in Latin America." In Global Economic Governance and the Development Practices of the Multilateral Development Banks, S. Park and J. Strand, Ed., 2015, 143-166.
- [21] International Financial Corporation. "IFC's Approach to Greening Equity Investments in Financial Institutions." Washington, DC: IFC, 2020.
- [22] International Labour Organisation. Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention No. 169. Geneva: ILO, 1989.
- [23] International Maritime Organization. "International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL)." 1973.
- [24] Introduction to the Climate and Environment Risk Assessment Toolbox, Green Investment Principles, https://gipbr.net/cerat.aspx?id=999&m=7
- [25] IPCC AR5. Intergovernmental panel on climate change fifth assessment report (AR5)[R]. London: Cambridge University Press, 2013.
- [26] Japan International Cooperation Agency. "Signing of Japanese ODA Loan Agreement with Bangladesh: Contributing to Economic Revitalization by Responding to Rapidly Increasing Electricity Demand." Press release, 1 July, 2019.
- [27] Martínez Moscoso and Pablo Alarcón Peña. "El rol de la Corte Constitucional del Ecaudor en las iniciativas de consulta popular sobre actividades mineras" in Tutela de los Derechos de la Naturaleza y el Ambiente Sano, Andrés Martínez Moscoso, Ed. Quito: Colegio de Jurisprudencia, Universidad San Francisco de Quito, 2021.
- [28] Ministerio del ambiente y agua. "Reglamento Ambeitnal de Actividades Mineras, MInisterio Ambiente." Ministerial Agreement 37. Amended 12 July 2016.
- [29] Ministerio del ambiente y agua. "Sistema Única de Información Ambiental." 2010.Web portal. http://suia.ambiente.gob.ec.
- [30] Morgado, Naeeda Crishna and Özlem Taşkın. "Managing Environmental Risks in Development Banks and Development Finance Institutions – What Role for Donor Shareholders?" Paris: OECD Development Co-operation Working Papers, 2019.
- [31] Muñoz Cabré M., Ndhlukula K., Musasike T., Bradlow D., Pillay K., Gallagher K.P., Chen Y., Loots J., & Ma X.. "Expanding Renewable Energy for Access and Development: the Roleof Development Finance Institutions in Southern Africa," Boston, MA: Boston University, Global Development Policy Center, 2020.
- [32] Nakhooda, Smita.. "Asia, the Multilateral Development Banks, and Energy Governance." Global Policy, 2011, 2: 120-132.

- [33]Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. "Lessons Learned from Experience with Debt-for-Environment Swaps in Economies in Transition." Paris: OECD, 2007.
- [34] Park, Susan. "Norm Diffusion within International Organizations: A Case Study of the World Bank." Journal of International Relations and Development, 2005, 8: 111-141.
- [35] Prinsloo, Cyril, Chelsea Markowitz, El Mostafa Jamea, and Kwama Owino. "Informing the Approach of Multilateral Development Banks to Use Country Systems." London: Global Economic Governance Africa, 2017.
- [36] Proctor, Darrell. "Japan Pulls Back from Coal, Though New Plants Move Forward." Power 3 May, 2021. https://www.powermag.com/japan-pulls-back-from-coal-thoughnew-plants-move-forward/
- [37] Rahill, B.H. "Review of Select Bilateral and Multilateral Practices Related to Environmental Standards and Risk Management." Commissioned by the International Institute for Sustainable Development, 2021.
- [38] Ray, Rebecca, Kevin P. Gallagher, and Cynthia Sanborn, Eds. Development Banks and Sustainability in the Andean Amazon. London: Routledge Press, 2020.
- [39] Ray, Rebecca, Kevin P. Gallagher, Andres Lopez, and Cynthia Sanborn, Eds. China and Sustainable Development in Latin America: The Social and Environmental Dimension. London: Anthem Press, 2017.
- [40] Samboh, Esther. "Guide to Omnibus Bill on Job Creation: 1,028 Pages in 10 Minutes." Jakarta Post, 25 February, 2020.
- [41] Seychelles Marine Spatial Planning. Secretariat of the Convention in Biological Diversity, 2019.
- [42] Sheikh, Pervaze A. "Debt-for-Nature Initiatives and the Tropical Forest Conservation Act (TFCA): Status and Implementation." Washington, DC: Congressional Research Service, 2018.
- [43] Steffen, Bjarne and Tobias S. Schmidt. "A Quantitative Analysis of 10 Multilateral Development Banks' Investment in Conventional and Renewable Power-Generation Technologies from 2006 to 2015." Nature Energy2019, 4: 75-82.
- [44] The Initiative. Seychelles Marine Spatial Plan, 2021.
- [45] United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean. "Regional Agreement on Access to Information, Public Participation and Justice in Environmental Matters in Latin America and the Caribbean." 2018.
- [46] United Nations Environment Programme. "Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment and Coastal Area of the South-East Pacific." 1984.
- [47] United Nations General Assembly. United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. Geneva: UNGA, 2007.
- [48] Unruh, Jon, Matthew Pritchard, Emily Savage, Chris Wade, Priya Nair, Ammar Adenwala, Lowan Lee, Max Molloy, Irmak Taner, and Mads Frilander. "Linkages Between Large-scale Infrastructure Development and Conflict Dynamics in East Africa." Journal of Infrastructure Development, 2019, 11(1-2):1-13.

- [49] Warford, Jeremy. "Infrastructure Policy and Strategy in the East Asia and Pacific Region: Environmental and Social Aspects." Commissioned by the JBIC-ADB-World Bank Joint Flagship Study. State College, PA: Pennsylvania State University, 2004.
- [50] Watkins, Graham George, Sven-Uwe Mueller, Hendrik Meller, Maria Cecilia Ramirez, Tomás Serebrisky, and Andreas Georgoulias. Lessons from Four Decades of Infrastructure Project-Related Conflicts in Latin America and the Caribbean. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank, 2017.
- [51] Watkins, Graham, Sven-Uwe Mueller, Hendrik Meller, Maria Cecilia Ramirez, Tomás Serebrisky, and Andreas Georgoulias. Lessons from Four Decades of Infrastructure Related Conflicts in Latin America and the Caribbean. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank, 2017.
- [52] World Bank. "Energy: Strategy." Washington, DC: World Bank, 2020.
- [53] World Bank. "Notice of Cooperation: Platform in Support of Coal Regions in Transition: Western Balkans and Ukraine." Washington, DC: World Bank, 2019.
- [54] World Bank. "Toward a Sustainable Energy Future for All: Directions for the World Bank Group's Energy Sector." Washington, DC: World Bank, 2013.
- [55] Xu, Jiajun, Régis Maradon, and Xinshun Ru. "Identifying and Classifying Public Development Banks and Development Finance Institutions." Paris: Agence française de développement, 2020.
- [56]Zhuo, Guomei, Shi Yulong, and Kevin P. Gallagher. "Green BRI and 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development." Beijing: CCICED Special Policy Study Report, 2020.
- [57]Zou, Sáni Ye and Stephanie Ockenden. "What Enables Effective International Climate Finance in the Context of Development Co-operation?" Paris: OECD Development Co-operation Working Paper, 2016, 28.
- [58] 耿兴强、康从钦."中巴经济走廊"首个落地能源项目.卡西姆港发电有限公司, http://pr.powerchina.cn/g163/s1304/t5902.aspx
- [59]绿色是"一带一路"的底色:今年上半年可再生能源投资占比首超化石能源, 《21世纪经济报道》,2021年
- [60]澎湃网.战略 | 惠民生与"一带一路"高质量发展, 2021年2月, <u>https://www.thepaper.cn/newsDetail forward 11270601</u>
- [61]全球环境研究所.《"一带一路"中国参与煤电项目概况研究》,2017年5月, http://www.geichina.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/12/%E2%80%9C%E4%B8%80%E5%B8%A6%E4%B8%80% E8%B7%AF%E2%80%9D%E4%B8%AD%E5%9B%BD%E5%8F%82%E4%B8%8 E%E7%85%A4%E7%94%B5%E9%A1%B9%E7%9B%AE%E6%A6%82%E5%86 %B5%E7%A0%94%E7%A9%B6%E4%B8%AD%E6%96%87%E7%89%88.pdf
- [62]人民画报."十四五",进入共建"一带一路"高质量发展的新阶段,2020年, http://www.rmhb.com.cn/zt/ydyl/202012/t20201209 800229530.html
- [63]人民网.商务部: 1-9 月我国企业对一带一路沿线国家投资增长 29.7%, 2020 年, http://finance.people.com.cn/n1/2020/1019/c1004-31896412.html

- [64] 商务部、国家统计局、国家外汇管理局.《2019 年度中国对外直接投资统计公报》,2020 年 9 月, http://images.mofcom.gov.cn/hzs/202010/20201029172027652.pdf
- [65] 商务部.《2020 年中国对外投资合作发展报告》,2020 年 12 月, http://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2021-02/03/5584540/files/924b9a95d0a048daaa8465d56051aca4.pdf
- [66] 吴浩.《第三方市场合作:"一带一路"的新动能》.人民论坛·学术前沿(02),86-91. doi:10.16619/j.cnki.rmltxsqy.2019.02.010, 2019 年
- [67] 新冠肺炎疫情下"一带一路"发展危中有机,《今日中国》,2020年5月, http://www.chinatoday.com.cn/zw2018/sp/202005/t20200518 800204786.html
- [68]新华社.习近平在第二届"一带一路"国际合作高峰论坛开幕式上的主旨演讲, 2019年, http://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2019-04/26/content_5386544.htm
- [69]新华网.推动共建绿色"一带一路"凝聚全球环境治理合力,2020年, http://www.xinhuanet.com/energy/2020-11/19/c_1126757797.htm.
- [70]新华网.习近平在博鳌亚洲论坛 2021 年年会开幕式上的视频主旨演讲(全文), 2020 年, http://www.xinhuanet.com/politics/leaders/2021-04/20/c_1127350811.htm
- [71]新华网.中华人民共和国国民经济和社会发展第十四个五年规划和 2035 年远景目标纲要, 2021 年, http://www.xinhuanet.com/2021-03/13/c_1127205564_13.htm
- [72]扬达.从软实力建构到硬实力缔造:日本对外发展的绿色举措.《云南社会科学》,2019年3月
- [73] 郑青亭.绿色是"一带一路"的底色:今年上半年可再生能源投资占比首超化石 能源,21世纪经济报道,2020年12月, https://m.21jingji.com/article/20201226/9ae533701b08176e780d9f0142c6554e.html
- [74] 中华人民共和国国务院新闻办公室网站."一带一路"愿景与行动文件解读, 2015年, http://www.scio.gov.cn/zhzc/35353/35354/Document/1506382/1506382.htm
- [75] 中华人民共和国商务部.中国海关总署:前三季度中国对"一带一路"沿线国家进出口增长 1.5%,2020 年 http://www.mofcom.gov.cn/article/i/jyjl/j/202010/20201003007782.shtml
- [76] 中央财经大学绿色金融国际研究院绿色"一带一路"中心.2020年中国"一带一路"投资研究报告,2021年,https://green-bri.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/2020%E5%B9%B4%E4%B8%80%E5%B8%A6%E4%B8%80%E8%B7%AF%E6%8A%95%E8%B5%84%E6%8A%A5%E5%91%8A.pdf
- [77] 中冶建研院.中冶节能环保助力马来关丹产业园 350 万吨钢铁项目全线投产, 2019 年 6 月 21 日, https://www.sohu.com/a/322191424 331830.
- [78]周亚敏.以碳达峰与碳中和目标促我国产业链转型升级.中国发展观察(Z1), 2021年, 56-58

- [79]「環境社会配慮確認のための国際協力銀行ガイドライン」.株式会社国際協力 銀行. https://www.jbic.go.jp/ja/business-areas/environment/confirm.html.
- [80]「ODA 研究発表」. 京大ユニセフクラブ1997 O D A 研究 班.http://www.jca.apc.org/unicefclub/research/97_oda/
- [81]「我が国の環境 ODA」.外務 省.https://www.mofa.go.jp/mofaj/press/pr/pub/pamph/pdfs/oda kankyo.pdf
- [82]「JICA の環境社会配慮ガイドライン」. 独立行政法人国際協力機 構.https://www.jica.go.jp/environment/guideline/index.html.
- [83]김호석、박준현、박준희:《캄보디아의 환경분야 개발협력 방안 연구:SDGs 연계성을 고려한 환경적 지속가능성 제고》, 대외경제정책연구원 연구보고서 2019.12.
- [84]김은주: 《OECD/DAC 원조규범 국내 시행기관 적용방안 연구》, 한국정책연구원 2018.05.
- [85]관계부처 합동: 《제 3 차 국제개발협력 종합기본계혹(2021~2025)》, 2021.01.
- [86]관계부처 합동: 《제 2 차 국제개발협력 기본계획(안)》, 2015.11.
- [87]대한민국 ODA 통합홈페이지 추진체계. 2021.03. https://www.odakorea.go.kr/ODAPage_2018/category02/L02_S02_01.jsp.
- [88]대한민국 ODA 통합홈페이지 주요 정책 문서. 2021.03. https://www.odakorea.go.kr/ODAPage_2018/category02/L02_S01_02.jsp.
- [89]대한민국 ODA 통합홈페이지 국제개발협력위원회 구성: https://www.odakorea.go.kr/ODAPage_2018/category02/L04_S01_01.jsp, 2021.03.
- [90]대한민국 외교부. 2021.03. http://www.mofa.go.kr/www/wpge/m_3925/contents.do.
- [91]주캄보디아 대한민국 대사관. 2021.03. http://overseas.mofa.go.kr/khko/brd/m_3104/view.do?seq=1345597&srchFr=&srchTo=&srchWord=&a mp;srchTp=&multi_itm_seq=0&itm_seq_1=0&itm_seq_2=0&co mpany_cd=&company_nm=.
- [92]KOICA 주요사업 추진방향. 2021.03. https://www.koica.go.kr/koica kr/%20900/subview.do.

ANNEX

Annex 1: Dubai 700MW Solar Thermal Power Generation Project

Solar thermal power generation is a technology that converts solar energy into heat energy and generates electricity through the process of heat-power conversion. Dubai 700MW Solar Thermal Power Generation Project is an integral part of the 950MW (photothermal and photovoltaic) hybrid project of Mohammedbin Rashid Al Maktoum Solar Park Phase IV in Dubai (hereinafter referred to as Dubai 700MW Project) and also so far the largest solar power generation project under construction in the world. This project is jointly invested by Dubai Electricity and Water Authority (DEWA), China Silk Road Fund (owning 24.01% stake) and ACWA Power, and constructed in IPP (Industry-Public-Private) mode. It is one of BRI's key projects in China and a landmark project in the Middle East market. The total investment of the project is 14.2 billion dirhams (about RMB 25.3 billion). ACWA Power is the project developer, Shanghai Electric Group, a Chinese-funded enterprise, is the general contractor of the project, and DEWA is the power buyer.



Design of Dubai 700MW Solar Thermal Power Generation Project

Dubai 700MW Project includes 3×200 MW trough solar thermal power generation units and 100MW tower solar thermal power generation unit. The project started construction on March 19, 2018 and is expected to be put into production by the end of 2022. The project adopts the world's leading "tower + trough" centralized solar thermal power generation technology. It is the solar thermal power generation project being constructed with the largest installed capacity, the highest technical standards, the heaviest investment and the lowest electricity price in the world. Its tower unit is equipped with a 15-hour molten salt thermal energy storage system, while the tank unit has 11 - 13.5 hours of thermal storage. Different from the intermittent nature and instability of photovoltaic power generation, the power output of solar thermal power generation is both stable and adjustable. It can still maintain a stable power output at night. Upon completion, the Project can generate 700 thousand kilowatts of clean power per hour with the world's largest thermal storage capacity. It can provide sufficient clean power to 270 thousand families in Dubai and reduce 1.4 million tons of carbon emissions every year.

I. Environmental management strategy in the stage of project planning

a. Consistency with the Energy Strategic Planning of the Host Country. The implementation of the project will reduce Dubai's dependence on traditional fossil fuels, cut local flue gas pollutant emissions, and meet relevant principles of realizing energy diversification and increasing the proportion of renewable energy as provided in *Dubai Integrated Energy Strategy 2050*.

b. Compliance with the Host Country's EIA procedures. The EIA report of Dubai 700MW Project was submitted to Dubai Municipal Environmental Planning and Research Department (DM-EPSS) on November 7, 2016, and the environmental permit was obtained on November 27, 2016.

c. Full Consideration of Environmental Protection Requirements of Project Financing. The total investment of the project is 4.3 billion US dollars, of which 2.4 billion US dollars are loans from Standard Chartered Bank, France Volkswagen Foreign Trade Bank, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China and Bank of China. To ensure smooth financing of the project, the project fully considered Equator Principles, IFC Performance Standards and relevant requirements stipulated in the EHS Guidelines (*Environment, Health and Safety Guidelines*) of International Finance Corporation (IFC) in its environmental protection measures, and analyzed its positive role in environmental protection and coordinated social development of surrounding areas.

II. Main environmental protection measures taken during the implementation phase of the project

Main environmental impacts of solar thermal power generation projects come from two stages: construction period and operation period. During construction period, environmental impacts mainly include construction machinery noise, waste water, dust and solid waste, while during the operation period, those mainly include equipment noise, sewage and wastewater, and ecological impacts on birds, etc. To eliminate and offset potential adverse environmental impact of Dubai 700MW Project, or reduce it to an acceptable level, the following measures are taken in the process of project design and construction.

a. Noise Prevention Measures

The *Environmental Protection Regulations* issued by Dubai in 1991 requires that maximum noise of industrial enterprises should be controlled within 55dB(A) during the day (7: 00 am to 8: 00 pm) and 45dB(A) at night (8: 00 pm to 7: 00 am). In addition, the financing party requires that the noise of this project should meet relevant requirements of EHS Guidelines issued by the World Health Organization (WHO) and the World Bank (WB) on environmental noise, namely, the maximum value of noise in the whole day should be controlled within 70dB(A), and the noise increment of sensitive areas closest to the factory boundary should not exceed 3dB(A).

The noise generated during the operation of the Project mainly comes from steam turbines, generators and other equipment. The noise equipment is situated at the center of the solar thermal power plant, and the distance from the boundary at each side of the plant is more than 900m. The noise sensitive area that is closest to the factory boundary is 700m away from the north boundary, and the main noise source is about 2.8km away from the nearest sensitive area. If the attenuation of distance is considered solely, when the intensity of a single noise source is 85dB(A), the noise at a distance of 900m from the source can be attenuated to 38.1dB(A). In actual operation, considering the superposition of multiple noise sources, the noise source intensity is about 92dB(A), and the noise at a distance of 900m from the source can be attenuated to 45.1dB(A). In addition, considering the reduction effect of the mirror field (about 5dB(A)-10dB(A) reduction), it is calculated that the noise at the boundary of this project is lower than 40dB(A), which can meet the requirements of Dubai as well as the EHS Guidelines of WHO and the World Bank without additional noise control measures.

b. Sewage Treatment Measures

Dubai has stipulations concerning the quality of sewage discharged to the urban sewage system. In addition, the financing party requires that the discharge of domestic sewage in this project meet relevant requirements of the World Bank's EHS Guidelines on the discharge limit of domestic sewage.

The waste water generated during the operation of Dubai 700MW Project mainly includes domestic sewage generated by operation and maintenance personnel, concentrated drainage of desalted water system, oily waste water spilled or leaked from transformer area, etc. Considering natural evaporation conditions in Dubai area, evaporation pond is set up in this project to treat the concentrated drainage of desalted water production system, so as to realize zero discharge, and the solid waste generated after evaporation will be recovered and disposed by qualified units. Oil-bearing waste water spilled or leaked from the transformer area will be collected in the anti-seepage accident oil storage pool (the volume of the accident oil storage pool is large enough to accommodate the maximum oil storage capacity of the transformer). Anti-seepage and anti-corrosion coatings are applied to the bottom and periphery of the accident oil storage pool, and corresponding measures such as wind, rain and sun protection are strictly taken.

c. Ecological Impact Prevention Measures

Dubai 700MW Project is located in arid Gobi desert area where ecological environment is fragile. The tower facilities (with a total height of 267m) in the project may cause accidental injury or death to flying birds during the operation period, threatening the number of migratory birds. In the process of site selection, the migration path of birds has been avoided, and the project site basically has no chance of foraging or perching, thus minimizing the damage to birds. In addition, during construction, the scope of activities has been strictly limited, and the disturbance of activities on vegetation and surface has been minimized to protect surface vegetation.

d. Risk Prevention Measures of Molten Salt

Molten salt used in the solar thermal power generation project is a strong oxidizing substance. Once molten salt leaks, it may cause a fire (if it leaks into combustion source, since an oxidizing substance will result in a fire), explosion (if it mixes with phosphorus and sulfur after leaking, or contacts with organic matter, it causes combustion and explosion due to friction or impact) and environmental pollution (it will pollute the surrounding environment if appropriate measures to enclose and collect it is not adopted).

In the construction process of Dubai 700MW Project, the management of fire source, organic matter, phosphorus, sulfur and other substances has been strengthened to prevent fire and explosion caused by molten salt leakage. The storage tanks in the project adopt a sinking design with cofferdams. The total volume of the sinking and cofferdams area can accommodate all molten salt leaked from the storage tanks. Even if the tanks leak, the molten salt will solidify quickly in the air, and the leaked molten salt can be contained in the sinking area or cofferdam without spilling over.

e. Environmental Monitoring Measures

The construction unit regularly monitors possible adverse environmental impact factors in the process of construction, including noise, waste water and bird mortality. The monitoring data obtained is compiled into an environmental monitoring report, which is an important part of the environmental management process.

Annex 2: Second Wind Farm of Three Gorges Pakistan Wind Power Generation Phase II Project

The Second Wind Farm of the Three Gorges Pakistan Wind Power Generation Phase II Project (hereinafter referred to as the Second Wind Farm) is one of the actively promoted projects along the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor (CPEC). It is located in the Tata area of northeastern Karachi City, Sindh Province, southern Pakistan, with a total site area of 2.75km². It has 33 wind turbines with installed capacity of 1.5MW per unit and 49.5MW in total. The project is invested and constructed by the China Three Gorges International Corporation (corporate's own capital accounting for 25% and bank loans for the rest), and adopts BOO (Building-Owning-Operation) model. According to the franchise agreement and energy purchase agreement (EPA) between China and Pakistan, the project is constructed, operated and managed by Three Gorges Pakistan Second Wind Power Company. The project started in January 2016 and was put into commercial operation in June 2018. All generated power is sold to Pakistan Central Power Purchasing Agency (CPPA-G).



Aerial View of the Second Wind Farm

Pakistan relies mainly on thermal power, with hydropower as supplement. The power supply is tight, and the energy demand keeps growing at medium to high speed. The Second Wind Farm is a typical case of new energy cooperation between China and Pakistan, with an annual power generation of about 100-150 million kWh. It provides clean power to Karachi, the largest city in Pakistan, and reduces the consumption of fossil energy in the region, which is of positive significance for protecting ecological environment, reducing greenhouse gas emissions and exploring green development of Pakistan's economy and society. The project not only complies with Pakistani standards, but also refers to relevant technical specifications on EIA and monitoring as well as environmental standards in China. The Second Wind Farm has trained a large number of engineering construction management talents for the localities, employing more than 30 middle and senior engineering and technical management personnel on site. It has built or renovated about 30 kilometers of roads, which has played an important role in stimulating local employment, improving people's livelihood and strengthening infrastructure construction. Besides, the project has always paid attention to social welfare, donating a large number of teaching supplies to primary schools near the project site, which improved the hardware facilities of the schools.

I. I. Environmental management strategy in the stage of project planning

a. Consistent with the Energy Cooperation Plan of China-Pakistan Economic Corridor

At the beginning of 2014, according to the principle of "Scientific Planning, Equality and Mutual Benefit, Rational Distribution", energy experts from China and Pakistan studied and formulated the Energy Cooperation Plan of China-Pakistan Economic Corridor based on energy demand, resource endowment and social and economic development needs of China-Pakistan Economic Corridor (Note: the list of planned projects was partially adjusted in May 2017). The Second Wind Farm is one of the seven actively promoted projects included in the plan, which is in line with Pakistan's energy strategy and future green energy development direction.

b. Performance of EIA procedures

The construction of the Second Wind Farm strictly complies with relevant requirements of Pakistan's EIA. Before the project starts construction (January 2016), all EIA procedures have been completed, including establishing the environmental impact report and obtaining the approval from the Environmental Protection Bureau of Sindh Province of Pakistan (May 2013).

II. Environmental Protection Requirements of the Host Country

The Second Wind Farm is located in a semi-desertification area, with flat and barren land and only a few sparse small shrubs. During the construction period, the original vegetation will be damaged, and dust pollution and noise pollution will easily occur. During the operation period, noise pollution and electromagnetic pollution will occur, which may interfere the migratory flight of birds, and a small amount of solid waste and oily waste water will be produced during overhaul and sudden accident. In order to minimize the above impacts, the project has taken the following environmental protection measures.

a. Strengthen the monitoring and management of environmental protection during the construction period. For example, set up monitoring points in drainage outlet of sedimentation tank of concrete mixing station, the outlet of domestic sewage treatment system and the concentrated living area of workers in the construction site for regular inspection and sampling; set up monitoring points at the edge of the construction site to monitor the noise value during the day and night. By adopting environmental protection measures combining prevention, treatment and management, the adverse effects of engineering construction on the environment can be effectively controlled.

b. The noise reduction factors are fully considered in the selection of wind turbine generator set, and parameters such as blade airfoil, blade tip shape and frequency of impeller passing over tower are optimized. Under the standard state of 10m height and 10m/s wind speed, the noise at the hub is less than 100dB during the operation of generator sets. The noise pollution of wind turbines is fully considered in site selection and distribution of wind turbines. The distance between the final site and Jhimpir Village, the nearest residential area, is more than 10km, which avoids the noise disturbing. At the same time, the distance between wind turbines is relatively far, which reduces the influence of noise superposition. Two long-term noise monitoring points are set up for the wind farm.

c. The electrical equipment and power collection lines of the booster station of the Second Wind Farm are far away from residential areas, which will not affect the radio and wire signals of nearby residents; During the operation period, the control power frequency magnetic field intensity meets the standard limit requirements, and the alternating current generated by the wind turbine is low in frequency and voltage, which is not enough to generate corona discharge, thus greatly reducing the risk of interference caused by the power plant to the transmission of high-frequency electromagnetic waves such as telecommunications and television.

d. In the process of site selection, the Second Wind Farm avoided bird activity places, migration routes and animal activity places as much as possible, and avoided nature reserves as far away as possible.

e. An oil pit is set under the main transformer, and an overall accident oil pool is set up. Anti-seepage and anti-corrosion coatings are applied at the bottom and around the accident oil pool, and corresponding measures such as wind, rain and sun protection are strictly taken. The oily sewage of the main transformer is discharged into the rainwater drainage pipe network after reaching the standard through oil separation treatment in the accident oil pool; Hazardous wastes generated during power plant operation are collected separately and treated regularly.

Annex 3: Framework of Whole Process Green Assessment for BRI Projects

To contribute to screening, evaluation and monitoring on the environment and environmental friendliness of BRI projects, FECO of MEE developed in 2017 the Framework of Whole Process Green Assessment for BRI Projects, covering key activities including project announcement, submission of application, trustee examination, project proposal, project establishment assessment, project implementation, and monitoring of project performance. The projects can start from the entry points shown in the following figure.



Overview of Entry Points for Green Assessment

I. Project announcement

Information presented at the project announcement stage will include general requirements to the applicant to enable qualification. Specifically for projects in 'environmentally sensitive sectors', the project applicant should provide evidence of sufficient appropriate environmental expertise or access to environmental expertise to ensure that environmental considerations are considered from the outset of project identification. The project announcement should clearly state that "project proposals will be evaluated according to the contribution they make to achieving SDG targets including environmental targets".

II. Trustee examination

a. Assessment of alignment between expected environmental impacts and environmentally relevant SDG targets

For projects in environmentally sensitive sectors, application documentation should be assessed against the environmental impacts from a checklist of environmentally relevant SDG targets.

b. Assessment of environmental, climate and social expertise

As described above it is expected that the project announcement will provide information on the requirement to include evidence of environmental expertise and experience particularly for projects in environmentally sensitive sectors.

c. Initial environmental screening

When determining the project's expected environmental impacts against the environmentally relevant SDG targets, efforts shall be made to further identify any potential negative impacts the project may have on the environment and also the influence the environment may have on the performance of the project. This process is called "initial screening of environmental impact". The initial screening will be conducted centering on whether it is possible/unlikely the project will cause negative impacts on the environment and whether it is possible/unlikely that the project will be influenced by climate change. Initial screening is helpful for trustees to make a judgement on the environmental impact of projects, which may be subject to final changes possible due to the roles that the projects play in the implementation stage. Then the results of initial screening should be monitored continuously when the initial screening is completed, so as to ensure that the results can be realized.

III. Project establishment assessment

a. Evaluation of environmental expertise by project assessment institutions

The trustees shall authorize certain third-party institutions that can demonstrate sufficient expertise on environment, climate and social impact management to undertake the project establishment assessment. The institution should provide evidence of its staff's environmental expertise and appropriate experience from other assessments to the trustees.

b. Understanding of host country environmental legislation

The project undertakers should provide evidence that during establishment and implementation the project will comply with relevant national environmental laws and regulations. The project establishment assessment institution should be able to verify that the project will comply with relevant environmental laws and regulations.

c. Environmental Impact Assessment and Climate Risk Assessment

The conclusions from the initial screening carried out at the trustee examination stage will have identified those projects that are likely to have significant negative environmental impact or be influenced by climate change. These projects should be subject to further screening to determine what additional measures may be required. These further measures could include Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and Climate Risk Assessment (CRA). The conclusions resulting from EIA and CRA screening should be recorded.

d. Formulate any environmental or climate risk assessments arising from screening

If the conclusions of screening indicate that an Environmental Impact Assessment or a Climate Risk Assessment is required, Terms of Reference (ToR) will need to be prepared.

e. Scientific selection of environmental performance indicators

A scientific selection of indicators can objectively reflect and measure the scale of environmental, climate and social impacts, and are helpful in examining the actual implementation performance of improvement and action plans. Therefore, in the course of conducting the assessment and management of environmental, climate, and social risks of green finance for BRI projects, environmental performance indicators that are universally identifiable and applicable at home and abroad, such as the carbon dioxide equivalent or System of Integrated Environmental and Economic Accounting (SEEA), can be selected to build a scientific, professional, and objective indicator assessment system.

IV. Guidelines of environmental policy review

a. Undertake environmental policy review

The trustees shall work with the third-party assessment institutions to conduct compliance assessment of outward investment, environmental management, corporate social responsibility laws and regulations applicable to the project.

b. Conclusions and recommendations

For "non-compliance" projects, a project optimization proposal shall be submitted, in conjunction with the existing policies and requirements; for "compliance" projects, the procedures of submission, recording, or approval shall be implemented.

V. Guidelines for project implementation contract

Trustees will make sure environmental issues identified are clearly specified in the project contracts and agreements. Specifically, identified environmental indicators should be included in the performance assessment framework and monitoring plan. In the cases where an EIA is undertaken, details of the environmental management plans should be included in the project contract. Where a CRA is undertaken, then the climate risk management plan should be included in the project contract. In addition, the contract and agreement of an investment project shall stipulate that the applicants who cannot fulfill the implantation goals are subject to proper penalties, such as loan recovery ahead of schedule or blacklisting.

VI. Monitoring during project implementation

a. Self-monitoring of environmental aspects

Monitoring of environmental aspects should be incorporated into the project monitoring system provided

there are appropriate indicators that can help identify if key environmental and climate change concerns and opportunities have been addressed. Indicators should track the efficiency and effectiveness of mainstreaming measures. This will allow prompt identification of adverse environmental and climate change impacts that may arise, and enable adaptations or revisions for the programme/project accordingly. It will also be important to ensure environmental and climate change results are regularly discussed by relevant stakeholders and by the project steering body. Opportunities may remain during the implementation phase to further enhance a project's environmental and climate change performance.

b. Independent monitoring and evaluation of environmental aspects

During the independent evaluation, the environmental and climate change performance of projects can be assessed and lessons drawn for future operations.

Annex 4: Environmental Risk Screening Tool (ERST)

The Environmental Risk Screening Tool for China's Overseas Investment (abbreviated as ERST) is a rapid assessment tool for environmental risks jointly developed by Foreign Environmental Cooperation Center of the Ministry of Ecology and Environment (the former Foreign Economic Cooperation Office) and the Paulson Institute in 2018 and officially launched in 2019. The tool is based on GIS and spatial analysis technologies. Using the global key ecological data and biodiversity data for analysis, ERST is applied in the fast screening of environmental and social risks in the project assessment stage.

ERST has designed a fast and convenient operation process, so as to make it easily accessible by the users and to enable them to obtain the analysis results for environmental and social risk screening. The creation of a project is enabled by inputting project profiles like the country and region which the project is situated, the sector to which it belongs, and basic project information. The system can automatically create a biodiversity impact and policy compliance analysis report when the construction area, one or more potentially impacted areas outside the construction area are defined. In addition, one or more self-defined analysis can be created to obtain further results of risk screening, such as the impacts on the world cultural heritages. The analysis results are either available online or downloadable as MS Word or Excel formats for offline uses and further analysis.

I. Application of ERST

ERST's functions have met the application demands of various stakeholders including governmental regulators, trustees, project implementing agencies, and third-party appraisal institutions.

For governmental regulators, ERST can provide international core and associated biodiversity information as a reference for the protection areas and the ecological system of major concern, so as to avoid or reduce the damages brought by the construction. In the meantime, a more detailed piece of evidence for regulation can be obtained as guidance for project construction. Moreover, environmental and social policies based on international conventions and protocols can be implemented more effectively.

For trustees, the standard information of biodiversity and ecological environment, fast screening of environmental and social risks provided by ERST can help greatly reduce the management cost of investment decisions. Based on the identification results and analysis of potential risks, trustees can conduct an initial assessment in combination with their internal environmental and safeguard measures, so as to confirm in the early stage of a lifecycle whether further risks analysis should be done. For projects or areas that may cause high level of risks or big harms, a further assessment can be completed to avoid investment risks and greatly reduce the labor and manager costs for initial assessment.

For project implementing agencies, based on the analysis results given by ERST, the management authorities can, on one hand, conduct real-time assessment, screening, and timely feedback for project planning, implementation, and regulation. On the other hand, the management authorities can perform accurate risk control supported by internal risk alert and emergency measures, technical plans, staffing, and financial budget. The budget of risk control can be charged to the project implementation costs. An effective risk control can enable the costs that have not yet incurred to be converted into profits in the account settlement, ensuring the economic benefits and promoting the environmental commitment and corporate social responsibilities of the implementing agencies.

For the third-party assessment institutions, before a deep environmental and social risk analysis, they can use the fast assessment of ERST to identify the key risk points. The powerful data of ERST can help avoid a possible defect and deficiency, increasing the accuracy, reducing the time and expense for the assessment.
The ERST system, built on GIS and Web technologies, contributes to more timely data updating, more convenient data analysis and overlaying. An analysis report and work log for each project can be acquired online by entering the project information and recording. Different users can get more direct analysis results and more reliable information tracking, based on which more application demands of ERST users are met.

II. Advantages of ERST

ESRT can provide accurate environmental and social risk screening at the early stage of a project, then project developers and trustees can understand the risks and make a prudent decision. This has brought a scientific evidence and convenience, which can help save the assessment costs in the early stage of a project. Supporting the construction of BRI platform, ERST has benefited the application of ecological and environmental data, offering the technical support for the environmental and social risk prevention of Chinese enterprises in outward investment and serving the BRI green development.

ERST is developed by drawing upon the advantages of Data Basin, the existing environmental risk assessment tool (https://databasin.org/). The Conservation Biology Institute (CBI) officially launched Data Basin in 2010, in a bid to promote the scientific strictness and social support for decisions of land utilization. Data Basin is a multi-purpose online tool through which individuals and institutions can directly refer and understand the existing spatial data and information, or make an analysis by creating a new map according to the demands. Data Basin has collected a wide variety of data, such as land utilization, infrastructure, climate, fire disaster history, ecological system, and protection areas. It has incorporated these data into the decision-making system, serving as a bridge linking scientific and social stakeholders, with planning quality improved, planning time shortened, uncertainty or cost reduced. As a web-based map platform, it provides the channel to access the latest data and scientific information, as well as multiple collaboration functions, analysis tools, and professional decision-making support apps.

Based on the Data Basin platform, the Inter-American Development Bank developed the Score Card for Biofuel Projects' Environmental Impacts, which will be used for assessing the potential impacts of biofuel facilities to key and general natural habits. Then the Inter-American Development Bank developed the environmental impacts and risks managing tools for Natural Habitats and Cultural Sites, which is based on the social and environmental policies. By virtue of this tool, the environmental safeguard personnel can easily analyze the impacts from an infrastructure development project. It can also send risk warnings for projects that may affect the key natural habitats, so the bank can perform a stricter review. In addition, the tool allows the banking staff to upload more environmental data for custom analysis. The downloadable reports and data help banking security staff better record and review the information of the projects to be developed. The tool better supports the environmental and social risk assessment in the decision-making process by the Inter-American Development Bank.